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Courage is knowing what not to fear.


Attributed to Plato
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I remember exactly where I was and what I was doing when I saw my father die. I was standing pretty much where I was now, leaning over the wooden veranda that surrounded our house and staring out at the grape pickers working their way along the neat rows of vines, heavily pregnant with this year’s yield. I was just about to walk down the steps to join them when out of the corner of my eye I saw the man-mountain that was my father suddenly disappear from sight. At first I thought he had knelt down to collect a stray cluster of grapes – he detested waste of any kind, which he put down to the Presbyterian mindset of his Scottish parents – but then I saw the pickers from the rows nearby dash towards him. It was a good hundred-metre run from the veranda to reach him, and by the time I got there, someone had ripped open his shirt and was trying to resuscitate him, pumping his chest and giving mouth-to-mouth, while another had called 111. It took twenty minutes for the ambulance to arrive.


Even as he was lifted onto the stretcher, I could see from his already waxy complexion that I would never again hear his deep powerful voice that held so much gravitas, yet could turn to a throaty chuckle in a second. As tears streamed down my cheeks, I kissed him gently on his own ruddy, weatherbeaten one, told him I loved him and said goodbye. Looking back, the whole dreadful experience had been surreal – the transition from being so full of life to, well . . . nothing but an empty, lifeless body, was impossible to take in.


After months of suffering pains in his chest, but pretending they were indigestion, Dad had finally been persuaded to go to the doctor. He’d been told that he had high cholesterol, and that he must stick to a strict diet. My mother and I had despaired as he’d continued to eat what he wanted and drink a bottle of his own red wine at dinner every night. So it should hardly have been a shock when the worst eventually happened. Perhaps we had believed him indestructible, his large personality and bonhomie aiding the illusion, but as my mother had rather darkly pointed out, we’re all simply flesh and bone at the end of the day. At least he’d lived the way he wished to until the very end. He’d also been seventy-three, a fact I simply couldn’t compute, given his physical strength and zest for life.


The upshot was that I felt cheated. After all, I was only twenty-two, and even though I’d always known I’d arrived late in my parents’ lives, the significance of it only hit me when Dad died. In the few months since we’d lost him, I’d felt anger at the injustice: why hadn’t I come into their lives sooner? My big brother Jack, who was thirty-two, had enjoyed a whole ten years more with Dad.


Mum could obviously sense my anger, even if I’d never said anything outright to her. And then I’d felt guilty, because it wasn’t her fault in any way. I loved her so much – we’d always been very close, and I could see that she was grieving too. We’d done our best to comfort each other, and somehow, we’d got through it together.


Jack had been wonderful too, spending most of his time sorting through the dreadful bureaucratic aftermath of death. He’d also had to take sole charge of The Vinery, the business Mum and Dad had started from scratch, but at least he’d already been well prepared by Dad to run it.


Since Jack was a toddler, Dad had taken him along as he went about the yearly cycle of caring for his precious vines that would, sometime between February and April, depending on the weather, bring forth the grapes that would then be harvested and ultimately result in the delicious – and recently, prize-winning – bottles of pinot noir that lay stacked in the warehouse, ready to be exported across New Zealand and Australia. He’d taken Jack through each step of the process, and by the time he was twelve, he could have probably directed the staff, such was the knowledge Dad had given him.


Jack had officially announced at sixteen that he wanted to join Dad and run The Vinery one day, which had pleased Dad enormously. He’d gone to uni to study business, and afterwards had begun working full-time in the vineyard.


‘There’s nothing better than passing on a healthy legacy,’ Dad had toasted him a few years ago, after Jack had been on a six-month visit to a vineyard in the Adelaide Hills in Australia, and Dad had pronounced him ready.


‘Maybe you’ll come in with us too one day, Mary-Kate. Here’s to there being McDougal winegrowers on this land for hundreds of years to come!’


While Jack had bought into Dad’s dream, the opposite had happened to me. Maybe it was the fact that Jack was genuinely so enthralled by making beautiful wines; as well as having a nose that could spot a rogue grape a mile off, he was an excellent businessman. On the other hand, I had grown from a child to a young woman watching Dad and Jack patrolling the vines and working in what was affectionately known as the ‘The Lab’ (in fact, it was nothing more than a large shed with a tin roof atop it), but other things had caught my interest. Now I regarded The Vinery as a separate entity to me and my future. That hadn’t stopped me working in our little shop during school and uni holidays, or helping out wherever I was needed, but wine just wasn’t my passion. Even though Dad had looked disappointed when I’d said that I wanted to study music, he’d had the grace to understand.


‘Good for you,’ he’d said as he hugged me. ‘Music is a big subject, Mary-Kate. Which bit of it do you actually see as your future career?’


I’d told him shyly that one day I would like to be a singer and write my own songs.


‘That’s a helluva dream to have, and I can only wish you luck and say that your mum and I are with you all the way, eh?’


‘I think it’s wonderful, Mary-Kate, I really do,’ Mum had said. ‘Expressing yourself through song is a magical thing.’


And study music I had, deciding on the University of Wellington, which offered a world-class degree, and I’d loved every minute of it. Having a state-of-the-art studio in which to record my songs, and being surrounded by other students who lived and breathed my passion, had been amazing. I’d formed a duo with Fletch, a great friend who played rhythm guitar and had a singing voice that harmonised well with mine. With me at the keyboard, we’d managed to get the odd gig in Wellington and had performed at our graduation concert last year, which was the first time my family had seen me sing and play live.


‘I’m so proud of you, MK,’ Dad had said, enveloping me in a hug. It had been one of the best moments of my life.


‘Now here I am, a year on, chucked out the other end of my degree and still surrounded by vines,’ I muttered. ‘Honestly, MK, did you really think that Sony would come begging you to sign a record deal with them?’


Since leaving uni a year ago, I’d slowly become more and more depressed about my future career, and Dad’s death had been a huge blow to my creativity. It felt like I’d lost two loves of my life at once, especially as one had been inextricably linked to the other. It had been Dad’s love of female singer-songwriters that had first ignited my musical passion. I’d been brought up listening to Joni Mitchell, Joan Baez and Alanis Morissette.


My time in Wellington had also brought home to me just how protected and idyllic my childhood had been, living here in the glorious Garden of Eden that was the Gibbston Valley. The mountains that rose up around us provided a comforting physical barrier, while the fertile earth magically grew an abundance of succulent fruit.


I remembered a teenage Jack tricking me into eating the wild gooseberries that grew in prickly brambles behind our house, and his laughter as I’d spat out the sour fruit. I’d roamed free back then, my parents unconcerned; they’d known I was perfectly safe in the gorgeous countryside that surrounded us, playing in the cool, clear streams, and chasing rabbits across the coarse grass. While my parents had laboured in the vineyard, doing everything from planting the vines and protecting them from hungry wildlife, to picking and pressing the grapes, I’d lived in my own world.


The bright morning sun was suddenly eclipsed by a cloud, turning the valley a darker grey-green. It was a warning that winter was coming and, not for the first time, I wondered if I’d made the right decision to see it out here. A couple of months back, Mum had first mentioned her idea of taking off on what she called a ‘Grand Tour’ of the world to visit friends she hadn’t seen for years. She had asked if I wanted to join her. At the time, I was still hoping that the demo tape I’d made with Fletch, which had gone out to record companies around the world just before Dad died, would produce some interest. Yet the replies that told us our music wasn’t what the producer was ‘looking for just now’ were piling up on a shelf in my bedroom.


‘Sweetheart, I don’t need to tell you that the music business is one of the toughest to break into,’ Mum had said.


‘That’s why I think I should stay here,’ I’d replied. ‘Fletch and I are working on some new stuff. I can’t just abandon ship.’


‘No, of course you can’t. At least you have The Vinery to fall back on if it all goes wrong,’ she’d added.


I knew that she was only being kind and I should be grateful for the fact I could earn money working in the shop and helping with the accounts. But as I looked out now on my Garden of Eden, I heaved a great big sigh, because the thought of staying here for the rest of my life was not a good one, however safe and beautiful it was. Everything had changed since I’d gone away to uni and even more so after Dad’s death. It felt like the heart of this place had stopped beating with his passing. It didn’t help that Jack – who, before Dad had died, had agreed to spend the summer in a Rhône Valley vineyard in France – had decided with Mum that he should still make the trip.


‘The future of the business is in Jack’s hands now and he needs to learn as much as he can,’ Mum had told me. ‘We have Doug on site to run the vineyard and besides, it’s the quiet season and the perfect time for Jack to go.’


But since Mum had left on her Grand Tour yesterday, and with Jack away too, there was no doubt I was feeling very alone and in danger of sinking into further gloom. ‘I miss you, Dad,’ I murmured as I walked inside to get some brekkie, even though I wasn’t hungry. The silent house did nothing to help my mood; all through my childhood, it had been buzzing with people – if it wasn’t suppliers or pickers, it was visitors to the vineyard that Dad had got chatting to. As well as handing out samples of his wines, he’d often invite them to stay for a meal. Being hospitable and friendly was simply the Kiwi way and I was used to joining total strangers at our big pine table overlooking the valley. I had no idea how my mother was able to provide vats of tasty, plentiful food at a moment’s notice, but she did, and with Dad providing the bonhomie, there had been a lot of fun and laughter.


I missed Jack too and the calm, positive energy he always exuded. He loved to tease me, but equally, I knew that he was always in my corner, my protector.


I took the orange juice carton from the fridge and poured the last of it into a glass, then did my best to hack through a loaf of day-old bread. I toasted it to make it edible, then began to write a quick shopping list to stock up on fridge supplies. The nearest supermarket was in Arrowtown, and I’d need to make the trip soon. Even though Mum had left plenty of casseroles in the freezer, it didn’t feel right defrosting the big plastic tubs just for myself.


I shivered as I brought the list through to the sitting room and sat on the old sofa in front of the huge chimney breast, built out of the grey volcanic stone that abounded in the area. It had been the one thing that had convinced my parents thirty years ago that they should buy what was once a single-roomed hut in the middle of nowhere. It had no running water or facilities, and both Mum and Dad had liked to recall how that first summer, they and two-year-old Jack had used the stream that fell between the rocks behind the hut to bathe in, and a literal hole in the ground as a dunny. ‘It was the happiest summer of my life,’ Mum would say, ‘and in the winter it got even better because of the fire.’


Mum was obsessed with real fires, and as soon as the first frost appeared in the valley, Dad, Jack and I would be sent out to collect the wood from the store, well seasoned in the months since it had been chopped. We’d stack it in the alcoves on either side of the chimney breast, then Mum would lay the wood in the grate and the ritual of what the family called ‘the first light’ would take place as she struck a match. From that moment on, the fire would burn merrily every day of the winter months, until the bluebells and snowdrops (the bulbs for which she’d had posted from Europe) bloomed under the trees between September and November, our spring.


Maybe I should light one now, I thought, thinking of the warm, welcoming glow that had greeted me on freezing days throughout my childhood when I’d come in from school. If Dad had been the metaphoric heart of the winery, Mum and her fire had been that of the home.


I stopped myself, feeling I really was too young to start looking back to childhood memories for comfort. I just needed some company, that was all. The problem was, most of my uni friends were either away abroad, enjoying their last moments of freedom before they settled down and found themselves jobs, or were working already.


Even though we had a landline, the internet signal in the valley was sporadic. Sending emails was a nightmare, and Dad had often resorted to driving the half hour to Queens-town and using his friend the travel agent’s computer to send them. He’d always called our valley ‘Brigadoon’, after an old film about a village that only awakens for one day every hundred years, so that it would never be changed by the outside world. Well, maybe the valley was Brigadoon – it certainly remained more or less unchanged – but it was not the place for a budding singer-songwriter to make her mark. My dreams were full of Manhattan, London or Sydney, those towering buildings harbouring record producers who would take Fletch and me and make us stars . . .


The landline broke into my thoughts and I stood up to grab it before it rang off. ‘You’ve reached The Vinery,’ I parroted, as I had done since I was a child.


‘Hi, MK, it’s Fletch,’ he said, using the nickname that everyone except my mum called me.


‘Oh, hi there,’ I said, my heart rate speeding up. ‘Any news?’


‘Nothing, other than I thought I might take you up on your offer to stay at yours. I have a couple of days off from the café and I need to get out of the city, eh?’


And I need to be in it . . .


‘Hey, that’s great! Come whenever you want. I’m here.’


‘How about tomorrow? I’ll be driving down, so that will take me most of the morning, as long as Sissy makes it, o’course.’


Sissy was the van in which Fletch and I had driven to our gigs. It was twenty years old and rusting everywhere it could rust, belching out smoke from the dodgy exhaust pipe that Fletch had temporarily fixed with string. I only hoped Sissy could manage the three-hour journey from Dunedin where Fletch lived with his family.


‘So, I’ll see you round lunchtime?’ I said.


‘Yeah, I can’t wait. You know I love it down there. Perhaps we can spend a few hours on the piano, coming up with some new stuff?’


‘Perhaps,’ I answered, knowing I wasn’t in a particularly creative space just now. ‘Bye, Fletch, see you tomorrow.’


I finished the call and walked back to the sofa, feeling brighter now that Fletch was coming – he never failed to cheer me up with his sense of humour and positivity.


I heard a shout from outside and then a whistle, the sound Doug, our vineyard manager, used to alert us to the fact that he was on site. I stood up, went to the terrace and saw Doug and a group of burly Pacific Islanders walking through the bare vines.


‘Hiya!’ I shouted down.


‘Hi, MK! Just taking the gang to show them where to begin the pulling out,’ Doug replied.


‘Fine. Good. Hi, guys,’ I shouted down to his team and they waved up at me.


Their presence had broken the silence, and as the sun appeared from behind a cloud, the sight of other human beings, plus the thought that Fletch was coming tomorrow, lifted my spirits.
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‘You look pale, Maia. Are you feeling all right?’ Ma said as she walked into the kitchen.


‘I’m okay, I just didn’t sleep very well last night thinking about Georg’s bombshell.’


‘Yes, it certainly was that. Coffee?’ Ma asked her.


‘Uh, no thanks. I’ll have some chamomile tea if there is any.’


‘There is, of course,’ interjected Claudia. Her grey hair was pulled back tightly into a customary bun, and her usually dour face had a smile for Maia as she placed a basket of her freshly made rolls and pastries on the kitchen table. ‘I take it before bed every night.’


‘You must be feeling unwell, Maia. I have never known you to reject coffee first thing in the morning,’ commented Ma as she collected her own.


‘Habits are there to break,’ Maia said wearily. ‘I’m jet-lagged too, remember?’


‘Of course you are, chérie. Why don’t you eat some breakfast, then go back to bed and try to sleep?’


‘No, Georg said he was coming later to discuss what we do about . . . the missing sister. How reliable do you think his sources are?’


‘I have no idea,’ Ma sighed.


‘Very,’ Claudia interrupted. ‘He would not have arrived at midnight unless he was sure of his facts.’


‘Morning, everyone,’ said Ally as she joined the rest of the household in the kitchen. Bear was tucked up in a papoose strapped to her chest, his head lolling to one side as he dozed. One of his tiny fists was clutching a strand of Ally’s red-gold curls.


‘Would you like me to take him from you and put him in his cot?’ asked Ma.


‘No, because he’s bound to wake up and howl the minute he realises he’s alone. Oh Maia, you look pale,’ said Ally.


‘That is what I just said,’ Ma murmured.


‘Really, I’m okay,’ Maia repeated. ‘Is Christian around, by the way?’ she asked Claudia.


‘Yes, although he is just about to take the boat across the lake to Geneva to get some food supplies for me.’


‘Then could you call him and say I’ll hop on the boat with him? I have some things I need to do in the city and if we left soon, I’d be back in time to see Georg at noon.’


‘Of course.’ Claudia picked up the handset to dial Christian.


Ma put a cup of coffee in front of Ally. ‘I have some chores to do, so I will leave you two to enjoy your breakfast.’


‘Christian will have the boat ready in fifteen minutes,’ said Claudia, putting down the handset. ‘Now, I must go and help Marina.’ She nodded at them both and left the kitchen.


‘Are you sure you’re okay?’ Ally asked her sister when they were alone. ‘You’re as white as a sheet.’


‘Please don’t fuss, Ally. Maybe I caught a stomach bug on the plane.’ Maia took a sip of tea. ‘Goodness, it’s strange here, isn’t it? I mean, the way everything carries on just as it did when Pa was alive? Except he isn’t, so there’s a gaping Pa-sized hole in everything.’


‘I’ve been here a while already, so I’m sort of used to it, but yes, there is.’


‘Talking of me looking unwell, Ally, you’ve lost a lot of weight.’


‘Oh, that’s just baby weight—’


‘No, it isn’t, not to me anyway. Remember, the last time I saw you was a year ago, when you left here to join Theo for the Fastnet Race. You weren’t even pregnant then.’


‘I actually was, but I didn’t know it,’ Ally pointed out.


‘You mean, you didn’t have any symptoms? No morning sickness or anything?’


‘Not at the beginning. It kicked in at around eight weeks, if I remember rightly. And then I felt truly awful.’


‘Well, you’re definitely too thin. Maybe you’re not looking after yourself well enough.’


‘When I’m by myself, it never seems worth cooking a proper meal. And besides, even if I do sit down to eat, I’m normally jumping up from the table to go and sort this little one out.’ Ally stroked Bear’s cheek affectionately.


‘It must be so hard bringing up a child by yourself.’


‘It is. I mean, I do have my brother Thom, but as he’s deputy conductor at the Bergen Philharmonic, I hardly see him, apart from Sundays. And sometimes not even then, if he’s touring abroad with the orchestra. It’s not the getting no sleep and the constant feeding and changing that bothers me; it’s just the lack of someone to talk to, especially if Bear isn’t well and I’m worried about him. So having Ma’s been wonderful; she’s a fount of knowledge on all things baby.’


‘She’s the ultimate grandmother,’ Maia smiled. ‘Pa would have been so happy about Bear. He really is adorable. Now, I must go upstairs to get ready.’


As Maia stood up, Ally caught her older sister’s hand. ‘It is so good to see you. I’ve missed you so much.’


‘And I you.’ Maia kissed the top of Ally’s head. ‘I’ll see you later.’
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‘Ally! Maia! Georg is here,’ Ma shouted up the main staircase at noon.


A muffled ‘Coming!’ emanated from the top floor.


‘Do you remember when Pa Salt bought you an old brass megaphone for Christmas?’


Georg smiled as he followed Ma into the kitchen and out onto the sun-filled terrace. He looked much more collected than he had the previous night, his steel-grey hair neatly brushed back and his pinstriped suit impeccable, accessorised tastefully with a small pocket square.


‘I do,’ Ma said, indicating for Georg to sit down under the parasol. ‘Of course, it made no difference, because the girls all had their music on full blast, or were playing instruments, or arguing with each other. It was like the Tower of Babel on the attic floor. And I adored every moment of it. Now, I have Claudia’s elderflower cordial, or a chilled bottle of your favourite Provençal rosé. Which is it to be?’


‘As it is such a beautiful day, and I am yet to have my first glass of summer rosé, I will choose that. Thank you, Marina. May I do the honours for both of us?’


‘Oh no, I shouldn’t. I have work to do this afternoon and—’


‘Come now, you’re French! Surely a glass of rosé will not affect you adversely. In fact, I insist,’ said Georg, as Maia and Ally walked out onto the terrace to join them. ‘Hello, girls.’ Georg stood up. ‘May I offer you both a glass of rosé?’


‘I’ll have a small glass, thank you, Georg,’ said Ally, sitting down. ‘Maybe it will help Bear sleep tonight,’ she chuckled.


‘None for me, thanks,’ said Maia. ‘You know, I’d almost forgotten how beautiful it is at Atlantis. In Brazil, everything is so . . . big: the noisy people, the vibrant colours of nature and the strong heat. Everything here feels comparatively soft and gentle.’


‘It’s certainly very peaceful,’ said Ma. ‘We are blessed to live in all the beauty that nature can provide.’


‘How I’ve missed the winter snow,’ murmured Maia.


‘You should come to Norway for a winter; that will cure you,’ smiled Ally. ‘Or even worse, you’ll get constant rain. Bergen gets far more of that than it does snow. Now, Georg, have you had any thoughts on what you told us last night?’


‘Other than discussing where we go from here, no. One of us must visit the address I have, to verify if this woman is the missing sister.’


‘If we do, how will we know whether she is or isn’t?’ asked Maia. ‘Is there anything that we can identify her by?’


‘I was handed a drawing of a . . . certain piece of jewellery, a ring that was apparently given to her. It is very unusual. If she has it, we will know without a doubt it is her. I have brought the drawing with me.’ Georg reached into his slim leather briefcase to pull out a sheet of paper. He placed it on the table for them all to see.


Ally inspected it closely, with Maia looking over her shoulder.


‘It is drawn from memory,’ Georg explained. ‘The gems in the setting are emeralds. The central stone is a diamond.’


‘It’s beautiful,’ said Ally. ‘Look, Maia, it’s arranged in a star shape, with’ – she paused to count – ‘seven points.’


‘Georg, do you know who originally made it?’ Maia chimed in. ‘It’s a very unusual design.’


‘I am afraid I do not,’ Georg replied.


‘Did Pa draw this?’ Maia asked.


‘He did, yes.’


‘Seven points of a star for seven sisters . . .’ Ally murmured.


‘Georg, you said last night that her name was Mary,’ said Maia.


‘Yes.’


‘Did Pa Salt find her, want to adopt her and then something happened and he lost her?’


‘All I can say is that just before he . . . passed away, he was given some new information, which he asked me to follow up. Having discovered where she was born, it has taken me and others almost a year to trace where I believe she is now. Over the years I have taken many a false turn, and it has led to nothing. However, this time, your father was adamant his source was reliable.’


‘Who was his source?’ Maia asked.


‘He did not say,’ Georg replied.


‘If it is the missing sister, it’s a terrible shame that, after all these years of searching for her, she’s found only a year after Pa’s death,’ Maia sighed.


‘Wouldn’t it be wonderful if it was her,’ said Ally, ‘and we could bring her back to Atlantis in time to board the Titan  and go and lay the wreath?’


‘It would,’ Maia smiled. ‘Although there is one big problem. According to your information, Georg, “Mary” hardly lives next door. And we leave for our cruise down to Greece in less than three weeks.’


‘Yes, and sadly, I have a very busy schedule at present,’ said Georg. ‘Otherwise, I would go to find Mary myself.’


As if to underline the point, Georg’s mobile rang. He excused himself and left the table.


‘May I suggest something?’ Ma spoke into the silence.


‘Of course, Ma, go ahead,’ said Maia.


‘Given that Georg told us last night that Mary currently lives in New Zealand, I made some enquiries this morning to see how far it was to travel between Sydney and Auckland. Because—’


‘CeCe is in Australia,’ Maia finished for her. ‘I thought about that last night too.’


‘It is a three-hour flight from Sydney to Auckland,’ Ma continued. ‘If CeCe and her friend Chrissie left a day earlier than they are planning to, maybe they could take a detour to New Zealand to see if this Mary is who Georg thinks she is.’


‘That’s a great idea, Ma,’ Ally said. ‘I wonder if CeCe would do it. I know she hates flying.’


‘If we explain, I’m sure she would,’ said Ma. ‘It would be so special to unite the missing sister with the family for your father’s memorial.’


‘The question is, does this Mary even know about Pa Salt and our family?’ Ally asked. ‘It’s not often these days that all us sisters are gathered together,’ she mused. ‘It seems to me like the perfect moment – that is, if she is who Georg believes her to be. And if she’s willing to meet us, of course. Now, I think the first thing to do is to contact CeCe, sooner rather than later, as it’s already the evening in Australia.’


‘What do we do about the rest of the sisters?’ asked Maia. ‘I mean, do we tell them?’


‘Good point,’ said Ally. ‘We should email Star, Tiggy and Electra to let them know what’s happening. Do you want to call CeCe, Maia, or shall I?’


‘Why don’t you do it, Ally? I think that, if it’s okay with everyone, I’ll go and have a lie-down before lunch. I’m still feeling a bit queasy.’


‘You poor darling,’ said Ma, standing up. ‘You definitely look a little green.’


‘I’ll come inside with you and make the call to CeCe,’ said Ally. ‘Let’s just hope she isn’t on one of her painting trips in the Outback with her grandfather. There’s apparently no signal at all at his cabin.’


Claudia appeared on the terrace from the kitchen. ‘I will start preparing lunch.’ She turned to Georg who had walked back to the table. ‘Would you like to stay?’


‘No, thank you. I have some pressing matters to attend to and must leave immediately. What has been decided?’ he asked Ma.


As Ally and Maia left the terrace, Ally saw that beads of sweat had appeared on Georg’s forehead and he seemed distracted.


‘We’re contacting CeCe to see if she will go. Georg, you are convinced that this is her?’ Ma asked.


‘I have been convinced by others that would know, yes,’ he replied. ‘Now, I would have liked to chat further, but I must leave you.’


‘I’m sure the girls can deal with this, Georg. They are grown women now, and very capable.’ She put a reassuring hand on his arm. ‘Try to relax. You seem very tense.’


‘I will try, Marina, I will try,’ he agreed with a sigh.
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Ally found CeCe’s Australian mobile number in her address book and picked up the receiver in the hallway to dial it.


‘Come on, come on . . .’ she whispered under her breath as the line rang five or six times. She knew it was pointless leaving CeCe a message as she rarely listened to them.


‘Damn,’ she muttered as CeCe’s voicemail kicked in. Putting the receiver down, she was about to go upstairs to feed Bear when the telephone rang.


‘Allô?’


‘Hello, is that Ma?’


‘CeCe! It’s me, Ally. Thanks so much for calling back.’


‘No problem, I saw it was the Atlantis number. Is everything okay?’


‘Yes, everything’s good here. Maia flew in yesterday and it’s so great to see her. When exactly is your flight to London, CeCe?’


‘We leave the Alice the day after tomorrow to head for Sydney. I think I told you we’re stopping over in London first for a few days, to sort out selling my apartment and to see Star. I’m dreading the flight, as usual.’


‘I know, but listen, CeCe, Georg has brought some news. Don’t worry, it isn’t bad, but it’s big news – or at least, it might be.’


‘What is it?’


‘He’s had some information about . . . our missing sister. He thinks that she might be living in New Zealand.’


‘You mean, the famous seventh sister? Wow!’ CeCe breathed. ‘That is news. How did Georg find her?’


‘I’m not sure. You know how cagey he is. So—’


‘You’re going to ask me if I can just pop over to New Zealand to meet her, aren’t you?’ said CeCe.


‘Full marks, Sherlock.’ Ally smiled into the receiver. ‘I know it would make your journey a little longer, but you’re by far the closest to her. It would be so wonderful to have her with all of us when we lay Pa’s wreath.’


‘It would, yeah, but we don’t know anything about this person. Does she know anything about us?’


‘We’re not sure. Georg says he only has a name and address. Oh! And a picture of a ring that proves it’s her.’


‘So what’s the address? I mean, New Zealand’s a big country.’


‘I haven’t got it on me, but I can get Georg to speak to you. Georg?’ Ally beckoned him over as he emerged from the kitchen on his way to the front door. ‘It’s CeCe on the phone. She wants to know whereabouts in New Zealand Mary lives.’


‘Mary? Is that her name?’ said CeCe.


‘Apparently. I’ll pass you over to Georg.’ Ally listened in as Georg read out the address.


‘Thank you, CeCe,’ said Georg. ‘All costs will be covered by the trust. Giselle, my secretary, will book the flights. Now, I’m going to pass you back to your sister, as I must leave.’ As Georg handed the receiver to Ally, he added, ‘You have my office number, contact Giselle if you need anything. For now, adieu.’


‘Okay. Hi, CeCe,’ Ally said, giving Georg a small wave as he walked out of the front door. ‘Do you know where in New Zealand that is?’


‘Hold on. I’ll ask Chrissie.’


There was a muffled discussion before CeCe came back to the phone.


‘Chrissie says it’s way down on the South Island. She thinks we should be able to fly to Queenstown from Sydney, which would make everything a lot easier than going to Auckland. We’ll look into it.’


‘Great. So, are you up for it?’ Ally asked.


‘You know me, I love a bit of travel and adventure, even when it involves planes. I’ve never been to New Zealand, so it’ll be fun to get a glimpse of it.’


‘Brilliant! Thanks, CeCe. If it’s easier, email me the details and I’ll call Georg’s secretary about booking the flights. I’ll fax a picture of the ring to you too.’


‘Okay. Does Star know about this?’


‘No, and nor do Electra or Tiggy. I’m going to email them all now.’


‘Actually, Star’s calling me in a bit to talk about meeting up in London, so I can fill her in. This is really exciting, isn’t it?’


‘It will be if it’s actually her. Bye for now, CeCe. Keep in touch.’


‘Bye, Ally, speak soon!’
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‘Cee, you’re holding the map upside down!’ Chrissie said as she glanced over to the passenger seat.


‘I am not . . . oh, maybe I am.’ CeCe frowned. ‘The words look the same to me either way, and as for the road squiggles . . . Jesus, when did we last see a signpost?’


‘A while back. Wow, isn’t this scenery spectacular?’ Chrissie breathed as she pulled the hire car onto a verge and peered out at the majestic mountains that unfolded under a ponderous cloudy sky. She reached to turn up the heating as raindrops began to splash onto the windscreen.


‘Yup, I’m completely lost.’ CeCe handed the map to Chrissie and looked in front and behind her at the empty road. ‘It feels like ages since we left Queenstown. We should have stocked up on supplies when we were there, but I thought there would be other places along the way.’


‘Right, according to the directions we printed off, we should come to a sign for The Vinery very soon. I guess we just have to keep going and hopefully find someone who can point us to it.’ Chrissie tucked a lock of black curly hair back from her face and gave CeCe a weary smile. Their journey had involved stopovers in Melbourne and Christchurch, and they were both hungry and tired.


‘There’s hardly been a car for miles,’ CeCe shrugged.


‘Come on, Cee. Where’s your spirit of adventure gone?’


‘I dunno. Maybe I’ve gone soft in my old age and prefer home to sitting in a car completely lost, whilst it pisses down with rain. I’m actually cold!’


‘It’s coming into winter here. There’ll be snow on those mountaintops before much longer. You’re too used to the climate in the Alice, that’s the problem,’ said Chrissie as she put the car in gear and they set off once more. The windscreen wipers were working at full tilt, the downpour now rendering the mountains around them a washed-out blur.


‘Yeah, I’m definitely a sunshine girl, and always have been. Can I borrow your hoody, Chrissie?’


‘Sure. I did tell you, though, it was much colder here. Good job I packed a spare one for you, wasn’t it?’


CeCe reached over into the back seat and opened one of the rucksacks. ‘Thanks, Chrissie, I don’t know what I’d do without you.’


‘To be honest, nor do I.’


CeCe reached for Chrissie’s hand and squeezed it. ‘Sorry I’m so useless.’


‘You’re not useless, Cee, just not very . . . practical. Then again, I am, but I’m not as creative as you, so we make a good team, don’t we?’


‘We do.’


As Chrissie drove, CeCe felt comforted by her presence. The past few months had been the happiest of her life. Between spending time with Chrissie and going off on painting jaunts into the Outback with Francis, her grandfather, her life – and her heart – had never been so full. After the trauma of losing her close bond with Star, she’d thought she could never be happy again, but between them, Chrissie and Francis had filled the bit of her that had been missing; she had found a family where she fitted in, however unconventional it was.


‘Look! There’s a sign.’ She pointed through the driving rain. ‘Pull over and see what it says.’


‘I can see it from here and it’s saying left to The Vinery – woohoo! We made it!’ Chrissie cheered. ‘By the way,’ she said as she steered the car down a narrow bumpy track, ‘have you told your sisters yet that I’m coming with you to Atlantis?’


‘The ones I’ve spoken to, yup, of course I have.’


‘Do you think they’ll be shocked . . . about us?’


‘Pa brought us up to accept everyone, whatever their colour or orientation. Claudia, our housekeeper, might raise an eyebrow, but that’s only because she’s from the older generation and very traditional.’


‘And what about you, Cee? Are you comfortable about us in front of your family?’


‘You know I am. Why are you suddenly being so insecure?’


‘Only because . . . even though you’ve told me all about your sisters and Atlantis, they didn’t feel . . . real. But in just over a week, we’ll actually be there. And I’m scared. Especially of meeting Star. I mean, you two were a team before I came along.’


‘Before her boyfriend Mouse came along, you mean? Star was the one who wanted to get away from me, remember?’


‘I know, but she still calls you every week, and I know you guys text all the time, and—’


‘Chrissie! Star’s my sister. And you, well, you’re . . .’


‘Yes?’


‘You’re my “other half”. It’s different, completely different, and I really hope there’s room for both of you.’


‘Of course there is, but it’s a big deal, you know, “coming out”.’


‘Grrr, I hate that phrase.’ CeCe shuddered. ‘I’m just me, the same as I always have been. I hate being put in a box with a label. Look! There’s another sign for The Vinery. Turn right just there.’


They set off down another narrow track. In the distance, CeCe could just make out row upon row of what looked like stripped, skeletal vines.


‘Doesn’t seem like this place is very successful. In the south of France at this time of year, the vines are covered in leaves and grapes.’


‘Cee, you’re forgetting the seasons are the other way round in this part of the world, like in Oz. I’d reckon the vines are harvested in the summer, so probably somewhere between February and April, which is why they look bare now. Okay, there’s another signpost. “To Shop”, “To Deliveries” and “To Reception”. We’ll head for reception, shall we?’


‘Whatever you say, boss,’ said CeCe, noticing the rain had now stopped and the sun was beginning to peep through the clouds. ‘This weather’s just like England,’ she murmured. ‘One minute rain, the next minute sun.’


‘Maybe that’s why so many English live here, although your grandfather was saying yesterday that the biggest group of migrants here is the Scots, closely followed by the Irish.’


‘Setting off to the other side of the world to make their fortune. It’s sort of what I did. Look, there’s another sign to reception. Wow, what a lovely old stone house that is. It looks so cosy, set in its valley, with mountains shielding it on every side. It’s a bit like our home in Geneva, without the lake,’ CeCe commented as Chrissie drew the car to a halt.


The two-storey farmhouse was nestled in a hillside just above the vineyard, which extended down in terraces into the valley. Its walls were fashioned from sturdy grey rock, ruggedly cut and intricately laid together. The large windows reflected the burgeoning blue light of the sky, and a covered veranda hugged the house on all sides, with planters of cheerful red begonias hanging from the railings. CeCe could tell that the main house had been added to over the years, as the stone walls were different shades of grey, aged by the weather.


‘The reception’s over there,’ Chrissie said, breaking into her thoughts as she pointed to a door on the left of the farmhouse. ‘Maybe there’ll be someone who can help us find Mary. Have you got that pic of the ring Ally faxed you?’


‘I stuffed it in my rucksack before we left.’ CeCe climbed out and grabbed it from the back seat. She unzipped the front pocket and pulled a couple of sheets of paper out of it.


‘Honestly, Cee, they’re all crumpled,’ said Chrissie in dismay.


‘That doesn’t matter, does it? We can still see what the ring looks like.’


‘Yeah, but it doesn’t appear very professional. I mean, going to knock on the door of a complete stranger to tell her or someone in her family you believe she’s your missing sister . . . She might think that you’re nuts. I would,’ Chrissie pointed out.


‘Well, all we can do is ask. Wow, I suddenly feel nervous. You’re right, they might think I’m crazy.’


‘At least you’ve got that photo of your sisters and your father. You all look normal in that.’


‘Yeah, but we don’t look like sisters, do we?’ CeCe said as Chrissie closed the car doors and locked them. ‘Right, let’s go before I chicken out.’


The reception – a small pine-clad showroom tacked onto the side of the main house – was deserted. CeCe rang the bell, as requested by the notice on the desk.


‘Look at all these wines,’ Chrissie said as she wandered round the showroom. ‘Some of them have won awards. This is a pretty serious place. Maybe we should ask to try some.’


‘It’s only lunchtime and you go to sleep if you daytime drink. Besides, you’re driving . . .’


‘Hello, can I help you?’ A tall young woman with blonde hair and bright blue eyes appeared from a door to the side of the showroom. CeCe thought how naturally pretty she was.


‘Yes, I was wondering if we could speak to, um, Mary McDougal?’ she said.


‘That’s me!’ said the woman. ‘I’m Mary McDougal. How can I help you?’


‘Oh, er . . .’


‘Well, I’m Chrissie and this is CeCe,’ said Chrissie, taking over from a tongue-tied CeCe, ‘and the situation is that CeCe’s dad – who’s dead, by the way – has a lawyer who has been hunting for someone who CeCe and her family have called the “missing sister” for years. Recently, the lawyer got some information that said the missing sister might be a woman called Mary McDougal, who lives at this address. Sorry, I know it all sounds a bit weird, but . . .’


‘The thing is, Mary,’ said CeCe, who by now had gathered her wits, ‘Pa Salt – our father – adopted six of us girls as babies, and he used to speak about the “missing sister” – the one he couldn’t find. We’re all named after the Pleiades star cluster, and the youngest, Merope, has always been missing. She’s technically the seventh sister, just like in all the Seven Sisters legends, right?’


As the woman stared blankly back at her, CeCe continued hastily.


‘Actually, you probably don’t know of them. It’s just that we’ve been brought up with the myths, though most people, unless they’re interested in stars and Greek legends, have never heard of the Seven Sisters.’ CeCe realised she was rambling, so she shut her mouth before she could say more.


‘Oh, I’ve heard of the Seven Sisters all right,’ Mary smiled. ‘My mother – who’s also called Mary – read Classics at uni. She’s always quoting Plato and the like.’


‘Your mother’s called Mary too?’ CeCe stared at her.


‘Yes, Mary McDougal, the same as me. My name’s Mary-Kate officially, though everyone calls me MK. Er . . . do you have any other information about this missing sister?’


‘Yes, just one thing. There’s this picture of a ring,’ said Chrissie. She placed the crumpled image in front of Mary-Kate on the slim counter that separated them. ‘It’s a ring with emeralds in a star shape with seven points and a diamond in the centre. Apparently, this Mary got it from, um, somebody, and it proves that it’s her, if you know what I mean. Sadly, that’s the only physical clue we have.’


Mary-Kate glanced at the picture, her brow furrowing slightly.


‘It probably means nothing to you, and we’d better leave,’ CeCe mumbled, her embarrassment growing by the second. She grabbed the piece of paper. ‘So sorry for bothering you and—’


‘Hold on! Can I take another look?’


CeCe stared at her in surprise. ‘You recognise it?’


‘I think I might do, yes.’


CeCe’s stomach turned over. She looked at Chrissie, wishing she could reach for her hand and have her own comfortably squeezed, but she wasn’t at that stage in public yet. She waited as the young woman studied the picture more closely.


‘I couldn’t say for sure, but it looks a lot like Mum’s ring,’ said Mary-Kate. ‘Or actually – if it is the same one – it’s mine now, as she gave it to me on my twenty-first.’


‘Really?’ CeCe gasped.


‘Yeah, she’s had it for as long as I can remember. It wasn’t something she wore every day, but sometimes on special occasions, she’d take it out of her jewellery box and put it on. I always thought it was pretty. It’s very small, you see, and she could only fit it on her little finger, which didn’t look right, or her fourth finger, which already had an engagement and wedding ring on it. But as I’m not about to get engaged or married, it doesn’t matter which finger I wear it on,’ she added with a grin.


‘So does that mean you’ve got it now?’ CeCe said quickly. ‘Could we take a look at it?’


‘Actually, before she left on her trip, Mum asked me if she could take it with her, as I so rarely wear it anyway, though maybe she decided not to . . . Listen, why don’t you come upstairs to the house?’


At that moment, a tall, well-muscled man wearing an Akubra hat put his head around the door.


‘Hi, Doug,’ said Mary-Kate. ‘All okay?’


‘Yeah, just popping in to get some more water bottles for the gang.’ Doug indicated the group of burly men standing outside.


‘Hi,’ he said to CeCe and Chrissie as he crossed to a fridge and pulled out a tray of water bottles. ‘Are youse tourists?’


‘Yeah, sort of. It’s beaut round here,’ said Chrissie, recognising the man’s Aussie accent.


‘It is, yeah.’


‘I’m just going to pop upstairs with our visitors,’ said Mary-Kate. ‘They think I may have some family connection to them.’


‘Really?’ Doug stared at CeCe and Chrissie and frowned. ‘Well, me and the boys will be having our tucker just out there, if ya need anything.’


Doug indicated a round wooden table where his men were gathering and sitting down.


‘Thanks, Doug,’ said Mary-Kate.


He nodded, gave CeCe and Chrissie a piercing look, then left.


‘Blimey, you wouldn’t mess with them, would you?’ breathed CeCe, staring at the group outside.


‘No,’ Mary-Kate said with a grin. ‘Don’t mind Doug, he’s our manager – it’s just that since Mum and my brother Jack left, he’s gone all protective, y’know? The boys are great actually. I had a meal with them last night. Now, come through.’


‘Seriously, we can wait outside if you want,’ Chrissie said.


‘It’s fine, although I’ll admit I’m finding this all a bit weird. Anyway, as you’ve just seen, I’m well protected.’


‘Thanks,’ said CeCe, as Mary-Kate pulled up part of the counter to let them in. She led them up some steep wooden steps and along a hallway into an airy beamed sitting room, which faced the valley and mountains beyond on one side, and was dominated by a huge stone fireplace on the other.


‘Please, sit down and I’ll go take a look for the ring.’


‘Thank you for trusting us,’ CeCe said as Mary-Kate crossed the room towards a door.


‘No worries. I’ll tell my mate Fletch to come in and keep you company,’ she replied.


After Mary-Kate left and the two of them sat down on the old but comfortable sofa in front of the fireplace, Chrissie squeezed CeCe’s hand. ‘You okay?’


‘Yup. What a sweet girl she is. I’m not sure I would have let two strangers into my house after that story.’


‘No, but people round these parts are probably a lot more trusting than they are in cities. Besides, as she says, she has a team of minders just outside.’


‘She reminds me of Star, with her blonde colouring and big blue eyes.’


‘I know what you mean from the pictures you’ve shown me, but remember, none of you sisters are related by blood, so the chances are high that Mary-Kate isn’t blood-related to any of you either,’ Chrissie pointed out.


The door opened and a tall, lanky man in his early twenties entered. His long, light brown hair hung down from underneath a woollen beanie, and his ears sported several silver piercings.


‘Hi there, I’m Fletch, good to meet you.’


The girls introduced themselves as Fletch sat down in an armchair across from them.


‘So, MK’s sent me in to make sure you guys won’t hold her at gunpoint over her jewellery,’ he grinned. ‘What’s the story?’


CeCe left it all to Chrissie to explain, because she did stuff like that so much better.


‘I know it sounds strange,’ Chrissie finished, ‘but CeCe comes from a weird family. I mean, they’re not weird, but the fact their father adopted them from all over the world is.’


‘D’ya know why he adopted all of you? I mean, specifically?’ asked Fletch.


‘Not a clue,’ said CeCe. ‘I guess it was probably random, like, on his travels. We happened to be there, and he swept us up and took us home with him.’


‘I see. I mean, I don’t see, but . . .’


At that moment, Mary-Kate arrived back in the sitting room.


‘I’ve looked through my jewellery box and Mum’s, but the ring isn’t there. She must have taken it with her after all.’


‘How long is she away for?’ asked CeCe.


‘Well, what she said when she left was, “for as long as I want to be”.’ Mary-Kate shrugged. ‘My dad died recently, and she decided she wanted to take a world tour and visit all the friends she hasn’t seen for years, whilst she was still young enough to do it.’


‘I’m sorry your dad died. As we said, so did mine recently,’ said CeCe.


‘Thanks,’ said Mary-Kate. ‘It’s been really tough, y’know? It was only a few months ago.’


‘Must have been a shock for your mum too,’ said Chrissie.


‘Oh, it was. Even though Dad was actually seventy-three, we never thought of him as old. Mum’s quite a bit younger – she has the big Six-O coming up next year. But you’d never know how old she was either – she looks so youthful. See, there’s a photo of her over there, taken last year with me, my brother Jack and my dad. Dad always liked to say that Mum looked like an actress called Grace Kelly.’


When Mary-Kate brought it over, both girls stared at the photo. If young Mary-Kate was pretty, Mary senior was still displaying the signs of a true beauty, despite being in her late fifties.


‘Wow! I’d take her for not much older than forty,’ whistled Chrissie.


‘Me too,’ said CeCe. ‘She’s . . . well, she’s stunning.’


‘She is, but more importantly, she’s a great human being. Everyone loves my mum,’ Mary-Kate said with a smile.


‘I’ll second that,’ said Fletch. ‘She’s just one of those special people; very warm and welcoming, y’know?’


‘Yeah, our adoptive mum, Ma, is like that – she just makes all of us feel good about ourselves,’ said CeCe as she studied the other pictures arranged on the mantelpiece. One was a black and white shot of what looked like a younger Mary senior, dressed in a dark academic robe and cap, with a bright smile on her face. In the background were stone columns flanking the entrance of a grand building.


‘So that’s your mum too?’ CeCe pointed to the photo.


‘Yeah, that was her graduation from Trinity College in Dublin,’ Mary-Kate nodded.


‘She’s Irish?’


‘Yup, she is.’


‘So, you really don’t know how long she’ll be abroad for?’ Chrissie asked.


‘No, as I said, the trip is open-ended; Mum said that not having a deadline on when she had to return was part of the treat. Although she did plan out her first few weeks.’


‘Sorry to hassle you, but we’d love to meet up with her and ask her about that ring. Do you know where your mum is now?’ said CeCe.


‘Her schedule’s stuck to the fridge; I’ll go take a look, but I’m pretty sure she’s still on Norfolk Island,’ Mary-Kate said as she left the room.


‘Norfolk?’ frowned CeCe. ‘Isn’t that a county in England?’


‘It is,’ said Fletch, ‘but it’s also a tiny island that sits in the South Pacific between Australia and New Zealand. It’s a beaut place, and when MK’s mum’s oldest friend Bridget came here to visit a couple of years back, they took a trip there together. Her friend liked it so much, she decided to up sticks from London and retire there.’


‘Yup, Mum’s still on the island, according to her fridge schedule,’ Mary-Kate said as she reappeared.


‘When does she leave? And how do we get there?’ asked CeCe.


‘In a couple of days’ time, but the island’s only a short plane ride from Auckland. I know that the planes don’t fly every day, mind. We’d have to find out when they do,’ warned Mary-Kate.


‘Shit!’ CeCe murmured under her breath. She glanced at Chrissie. ‘We’re meant to be flying out to London late tomorrow night. Have we got time?’


‘We’ll have to make time, won’t we?’ Chrissie shrugged. ‘I mean, she’s just down the road, compared to coming all this way back from Europe. And if the missing sister can be identified by this ring, then . . .’


‘I’ll check flights to Norfolk Island, and Queenstown to Auckland, ’cos it’d be faster to fly than drive,’ said Fletch, standing up and moving to a long wooden dining table covered in papers, magazines and an old-fashioned fat-bottomed computer. ‘It might take some time because the internet around here is dodgy, to put it mildly.’ He tapped on the keyboard. ‘Yup, no connection at the moment,’ he sighed.


‘I saw your brother in that photo. Is he in New Zealand at the moment?’ CeCe asked Mary-Kate.


‘He is normally, but he just went off to the south of France to learn more about French wine-making.’


‘So he’s gonna take over the vineyard from your dad?’ Chrissie clarified.


‘Yup. Hey, are you guys hungry? It’s way past lunchtime.’


‘Starving,’ both Chrissie and CeCe answered at the same time.


After the four of them had put together some bread, local cheese and cold meats, they cleared space on the dining table and sat down to eat.


‘So where do you guys actually live?’ Fletch asked.


‘In the Alice,’ said CeCe. ‘But my family home is called Atlantis, which is on the shores of Lake Geneva in Switzerland.’


‘Atlantis, the mythical home of Atlas, father of the Seven Sisters,’ smiled Mary-Kate. ‘Your dad really was into his Greek legends.’


‘He was, yeah. We have this big telescope that still stands in an observatory at the top of the house. By the time we could talk, we knew all the names of the stars in and around the Orion and Taurus constellations by heart,’ said CeCe. ‘I wasn’t interested, to be honest, until I came to the Alice and realised that the Seven Sisters are goddesses in Aboriginal mythology. It made me wonder how there could be all these legends about them literally everywhere. Like, in Mayan culture, Greek, Japanese . . . these sisters are famous all over the world.’


‘The Maori have stories about the sisters too,’ Mary-Kate added. ‘They’re called the daughters of Matariki here. They each have special skills and gifts that they bring to the people.’


‘So how did each culture know about the other back then?’ Chrissie questioned. ‘I mean, there was no internet or even a postal service or telephone, so how can all the legends be so similar without there being any communication between people?’


‘You really need to meet my mum,’ chuckled Mary-Kate. ‘She doesn’t half ramble on about subjects like that. She’s a total brainbox – not like me, I’m afraid. I’m more into my music than philosophy.’


‘You look like your mum, though,’ said Chrissie.


‘Yeah, a lot of people say that, but actually, I’m adopted.’


CeCe shot Chrissie a look. ‘Wow,’ she said. ‘Like me and my sisters. Do you know exactly where you were adopted from? And who your birth parents are?’


‘I don’t. Mum and Dad told me as soon as I was old enough to understand, but I’ve always felt that my mum is my mum, and my dad is . . . was my dad. End of.’


‘Sorry to pry,’ CeCe said quickly. ‘It’s just . . . it’s just that if you are adopted, then . . .’


‘Then you really might be the missing sister,’ Chrissie finished for her.


‘Look, I understand your family have been searching for this person for a while,’ Mary-Kate said gently, ‘but I’ve never heard my mum mention anything about a “missing sister”. All I know is that it was a closed adoption, and it happened here in NZ. I’m sure Mum will clear it all up if you get to see her.’


‘Right.’ Fletch stood up. ‘I’m gonna try getting online again, so you guys have some idea of whether you can travel to Norfolk Island in the next twenty-four hours.’ He moved along the table to sit in front of the computer.


‘Does your mum have a mobile?’ Chrissie asked.


‘She does,’ said Mary-Kate, ‘but if you’re about to ask me whether we can contact her on it, there’s only the tiniest chance that she’ll have a signal on Norfolk Island. Part of the beauty of living there is the fact they’re fifty years behind everywhere else, especially in the modern technology department.’


‘Okay, Houston, we have lift-off!’ Fletch exclaimed. ‘There’s a seven a.m. flight from Queenstown to Auckland tomorrow, landing just before nine. The flight for Norfolk Island leaves at ten a.m. and lands just shy of a couple of hours later. What time does your onward flight leave Sydney tomorrow night?’


‘Around eleven p.m.,’ said Chrissie. ‘Are there any flights to Sydney leaving Norfolk Island late afternoon?’


‘I’ll take a look,’ said Fletch, going back to his computer screen.


‘Even if we can get a flight out at the right time, it would only give us a few hours on Norfolk Island,’ said CeCe.


‘It’s a tiny island, though, eh?’ Fletch commented.


‘Mary-Kate, do you think you could just try your mum’s mobile?’ Chrissie asked. ‘I mean, to go all that way and then find she isn’t there would be a real pain.’


‘I can try, for sure. And I can call Bridget, the friend she’s staying with, too. Mum left her number on the fridge – I’ll go and get it, then call both of them.’


‘We’re in luck!’ said Fletch. ‘There’s a flight at five p.m. from the island into Sydney. If you land in the morning at ten forty Norfolk time, that should give you plenty of time to meet up with Mary-Kate’s mum. Who, by the way, is always known as “Merry” – she was apparently called that when she was little because she never stopped giggling.’


‘That’s cute,’ smiled Chrissie.


‘Not a nickname I was ever given as a baby,’ muttered CeCe under her breath. ‘Me and Electra were the angry, shouty sisters.’


‘I’ve just tried my mum and Bridget, but I only got their voicemails on the mobile and the landline,’ Mary-Kate said as she appeared from the kitchen. ‘I left messages saying you were trying to get in contact with Mum about the ring and that you’re planning to visit tomorrow, so if they manage to listen to their answer services, they’ll know you’re coming.’


‘Well?’ Fletch peered at them over the computer screen. ‘There are three seats left on the flights to Auckland and Norfolk Island, and only two back to Sydney. Are you gonna go or not?’


CeCe looked at Chrissie, who shrugged. ‘Whilst we’re here, we should at least try to get to see Mary-Kate’s mum, Cee.’


‘Yup, you’re right, even if it is an early wake-up tomorrow. If I give you my credit card details, Fletch, can you book us on the flights? Sorry to ask, but I doubt we’ll find an internet café anywhere locally.’


‘You won’t, and course I will, no hassle, eh?’


‘Oh, and just one last thing: can you recommend anywhere that we can stay the night?’ Chrissie said, always the practical one.


‘Sure, right here in the annexe,’ said Mary-Kate. ‘We use the dorms for the workers, but I’m pretty sure there’s one room spare just now. It’s not fancy or anything – just bunk beds – but it’s the nearest place to rest your heads.’


‘Thanks a million,’ said Chrissie. ‘We’ll get out of your hair now. I’d like to take a wander outside. The countryside around here is incredible.’


‘Okay, I’ll just show you to your dorms and . . .’ Mary-Kate glanced at Fletch before saying, ‘Mum left the freezer full, and I can defrost a chook casserole for dinner tonight. You guys want in? I’d love to hear more about your family and what the connection might be to me.’


‘Yeah, it would be great if you turned out to be the missing sister. And that’s so kind of you to invite us,’ CeCe smiled. ‘Thanks for being so hospitable.’


‘It’s the New Zealand way, eh?’ shrugged Fletch. ‘Share and share alike.’


‘Thanks,’ said Chrissie. ‘See you guys later.’


Outside, the air felt cool and fresh, and the sky was now a deep azure blue. ‘It’s so different from Australia here – it reminds me of Switzerland with all these mountains, but it’s wilder and more untamed,’ CeCe commented as they walked side by side past the sweeping acres of vines. They found a narrow path that led up an undulating hillside, and as they walked, the vegetation became coarser and less civilised. CeCe brushed her fingers over the leaves of the shrubs they passed to release the bright green scents of nature.


She could hear the calls of unfamiliar birds from the trees, and a faint rush of water, so she pulled Chrissie off the path towards it. They navigated their way through brambles – still wet from the earlier downpour and now glistening in the sunshine – until they stood beside a fast-running crystal-clear stream, splashing across smooth grey rock. As they watched dragonflies skimming over the surface, CeCe turned to smile at Chrissie.


‘I wish we could stay here for longer,’ she said. ‘It’s beautiful, and so peaceful.’


‘I’d love to come back one day and explore properly,’ Chrissie agreed. ‘So . . . what do you think about Mary-Kate not wanting to know about her birth parents? I mean, you defo had your doubts when you went in search of your own birth family.’


‘That was different.’ CeCe swatted a bug from her face, panting as they followed the stream uphill. ‘Pa had just died, Star had gone all weird and distant . . . I needed something – or someone else of my own, y’know? Mary-Kate still has a loving mum and brother, so she probably hasn’t felt the urge to shake things up.’


Chrissie nodded, then reached out to CeCe’s arm to tug her back. ‘Can we stop for a second? My leg’s aching.’


They sat down on a patch of mossy grass to catch their breath, and Chrissie swung her legs onto CeCe’s lap. In comfortable silence, they gazed out over the valley, the farmhouse below and the neatly ordered lines of the vine terraces the only sign of human habitation.


‘So, have we found her?’ CeCe asked eventually.


‘You know what?’ Chrissie replied. ‘I think we might have done.’
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Dinner with Mary-Kate and Fletch that night was very relaxed, and it was after midnight and two bottles of excellent house pinot noir when CeCe and Chrissie said their goodbyes and made their way outside to the annexe. As Mary-Kate had said, the room was basic but had everything they needed, including a shower and thick woollen blankets to ward off the creeping cold of night.


‘Wow, in the Alice I’m normally throwing the sheets off me ’cos I’m dripping with sweat, and here I am huddled under the covers,’ chuckled CeCe. ‘What do you think of Mary-Kate?’


‘I think she’s cool,’ commented Chrissie. ‘And if she did turn out to be your missing sister, it would be fun to have her around.’


‘She said she was twenty-two, which would fit in perfectly with the rest of us. Electra, who’s the youngest, is twenty-six. Or maybe we’re just on a complete wild goose chase,’ CeCe added sleepily. ‘Sorry, but I’m about to drop off . . .’


Chrissie reached for her hand from the bunk opposite. ‘Night night, honey, sleep tight. We’ve got an early morning call tomorrow, that’s for sure.’
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‘Time to wake up, Cee. We’re about to land and you need to fasten your seat belt.’


Chrissie’s voice broke into CeCe’s dreams and she opened her eyes to see Chrissie reaching for the seat belt to strap her in.


‘Where are we?’


‘About a thousand feet above Norfolk Island. Wow! It’s tiny! Like one of those atolls you see in ads for the Maldives. Look down there; it’s so green, and the water is such an amazing turquoise colour. I wonder if Merry or her friend Bridget got our messages?’


CeCe peered nervously out of her window. ‘We’ll find out when we land, I suppose. Mary-Kate said she left them both details of our flight time, so you never know, they might even be there to meet us. Oh my God, have you seen that? It looks like the runway’s headed right out to sea! I don’t think I can look.’


CeCe turned her head away as the plane’s engines roared and it prepared to land.


‘Phew! I’m glad that’s over,’ she said as the pilot put the brakes on hard and the plane skidded to a halt.


The two of them piled off the small aircraft with their rucksacks and headed for the tiny building that was Norfolk Island’s airport terminal. They passed by a small crowd of onlookers waiting behind a fence for passengers, then through customs control, where a beagle on a lead was sniffing around the new arrivals.


‘It’s a bit different to arriving on the Aussie mainland, isn’t it?’ CeCe commented. ‘I reckon the Aussie border-force guys would prefer to have you stark naked before they let you through,’ she giggled, as they emerged into a small arrivals area where the same handful of onlookers had moved inside to greet their visitors.


‘Remember that I’ve never flown into Oz before, because this is the first time I’ve ever left the country.’ Chrissie nudged her. ‘Now, can you see a woman who looks like that photo we saw of Merry yesterday?’


Both of them scanned the group, most of whom had already collected their visitors and were walking away.


‘Seems like they didn’t get our messages,’ Chrissie shrugged. ‘Anyway, Mary-Kate said it was just a twenty-minute walk to Bridget’s house from here. But which way?’


‘If in doubt, go to the tourist information desk, which is right over there.’ CeCe nodded to a young man sitting behind a desk piled with leaflets. The two of them walked over to it.


‘Hi there, can I help you guys?’


‘Yes, we’re looking for a road called . . .’ – Chrissie pulled a piece of paper out of her jean pocket – ‘Headstone.’


‘That’s easy enough; it’s at the end of the runway over there.’ The man pointed into the distance. ‘Just walk round the airport perimeter and turn left. That’ll take you up to Headstone Road.’


‘Thanks,’ said CeCe.


‘You guys looking for anywhere to stay? I can suggest a few ideas, eh?’ the man encouraged them.


‘No, we’re going back to Sydney this arvo.’


‘A flying visit f’sure, mate,’ the man joked. ‘Well, why don’t you check in your rucksacks now so you don’t have to carry them with you? Take your togs, though, in case you fancy a dip before you leave. There’s a few ripper beaches around and about.’


‘Thanks, we will.’


The man pointed them in the direction of the airline desk and to their surprise, they were able to check in to the flight for Sydney immediately.


‘Wow, I love it here,’ said CeCe as she dug into her rucksack for swimming costumes and towels. ‘It’s all so casual.’


‘The beauty of small-island living,’ said Chrissie as they set off. ‘And it’s so green – I love those trees,’ she gestured to the tall firs that stood sentinel in rows ahead of them.


‘They’re called Norfolk pines,’ said CeCe. ‘Pa had some planted along the edge of our garden at Atlantis when I was younger.’


‘I’m impressed, Cee, I didn’t take you for a botanist.’


‘You know I’m not, but a Norfolk pine was one of the first things that I ever drew when I was younger. It was terrible, of course, but Ma had it framed and I gave it to Pa for Christmas. I think it’s still on the wall of his study to this day.’


‘That’s cool. So . . . what are we meant to say when we turn up on these guys’ doorstep?’ Chrissie asked.


‘Same as we did with Mary-Kate, I suppose. After all this, I just hope they’re in. I feel wrecked from an early wake-up, two flights and now two more to go later on!’


‘I know, but it’ll be worth it if we get to meet Merry and see that ring. Whatever happens, we should defo go for a dip in that amazing sea before we leave for the airport. That’ll wake us up.’


A few minutes later, they saw a sign saying Headstone Road.


‘What’s the house number?’


‘I can’t see any numbers,’ CeCe said as they passed the wooden bungalows, all sitting in immaculate gardens and surrounded by manicured hibiscus hedges studded with bright flowers.


‘The house is called . . .’ Chrissie studied the word on the note Mary-Kate had written. ‘I’ve no idea how to pronounce this.’


‘Well, don’t ask me to try,’ CeCe chuckled. ‘They’re all very house-proud round here, aren’t they? It reminds me a bit of an English village, what with all the perfectly trimmed lawns.’


‘Look! There it is.’ Chrissie nudged her, pointing to a neatly painted sign saying Síocháin.


They stood in front of the cattle grid that marked the entrance to the property. The bungalow was pristine like all the others, and had a couple of large gnomes standing guard at either side of the grid.


‘Those two are dressed in the colours of the Irish flag, and I think that house name might be Gaelic, so I reckon the occupants are too,’ said Chrissie as they carefully crossed the cattle grid.


‘Right’ – CeCe lowered her voice as they walked up to the door – ‘who’s going to do the talking?’


‘You begin, and I’ll help you out if you’re struggling,’ Chrissie suggested.


‘Here goes,’ said CeCe before ringing the doorbell, which sang a little tune that sounded like an Irish jig. There was no reply. On the fourth press of the bell, Chrissie turned to her.


‘How about taking a wander round the back? They might be out in the garden – it’s a beaut day.’


‘Worth a try,’ CeCe shrugged, so they walked round the side of the bungalow to the back of the house, edged by banana palms. The terrace, table and chairs, all protected by a sun awning, were deserted.


‘Damn!’ CeCe said, feeling her heart sink. ‘There’s no one in.’


‘Look!’ Chrissie pointed to the bottom of the long garden, where a figure with a spade was digging in the earth. ‘Let’s go and ask him, shall we?’


‘Hellooo!’ Chrissie called as they drew closer, and eventually a man – who was broad-shouldered and probably in his mid-sixties – looked up and waved at them from what was clearly a vegetable patch. ‘Maybe he’s expecting us.’


‘Or maybe he’s just friendly. Didn’t you notice that everyone in the passing cars waved at us too?’ said CeCe.


‘Hello, girls,’ said the man, leaning on his spade as they approached him. ‘What can I do for the two of youse?’ he asked in a pronounced Australian accent.


‘Uh, yeah, hi. Do you, um, live here? I mean, is this your house?’ CeCe asked.


‘It is, yeah. And you are?’


‘I’m CeCe and this is my friend Chrissie. We’re looking for a woman – in fact, two women: one called Bridget Dempsey and the other called Mary – or Merry – McDougal. Do you know either of them?’


‘I most certainly do,’ the man nodded. ‘Especially Bridge. She’s my missus.’


‘Great! That’s fantastic. Are they in?’


‘I’m afraid not, girls. They’ve both buggered off to Sydney, leaving me all on my lonesome.’


‘You’re joking!’ CeCe muttered to Chrissie. ‘We could’ve flown straight there. Merry’s daughter, Mary-Kate, said she wasn’t flying out until tomorrow.’


‘She’s right,’ said the man. ‘Merry was staying here, but she suddenly changed her mind and suggested that she and Bridge get the afternoon flight to Sydney, so they could spend what they called a “girls’ night” together in the big city and do some shopping.’


‘Shit,’ CeCe said. ‘That’s a shame, because we’ve come a long way to see her and we’re off to Sydney ourselves tonight. Do you happen to know how long Merry is in Sydney for?’


‘I think she said she was flying out of Oz tonight. I’m due to pick up Bridge on the incoming flight this afternoon.’


‘That must be the plane we’re flying out on,’ said Chrissie, rolling her eyes at CeCe in despair.


‘Can I help you in any way?’ the man said, sweeping off his Akubra hat and dabbing his sweating forehead with a handkerchief.


‘Thanks, but it’s Merry we came to speak to,’ said CeCe.


‘Well, why don’t we step out of this glaring sun and go sit on the terrace? We can crack a couple of tinnies and you can explain why you need to see Merry. I’m Tony, by the way,’ he said as they followed him back up the garden and under the cool shade of the awning. ‘I’ll just go grab those beers, and then we’ll have a chat.’


‘He seems like a good guy,’ commented Chrissie as they sat down.


‘Yeah, but he’s not the person we want to speak to,’ CeCe sighed.


‘There y’go.’ Tony returned and put the ice-cold beers down in front of them. They each took a grateful swig. ‘So, what’s the story?’


CeCe did her best to explain, with Chrissie filling in details when needed.


‘Now that’s a tall tale,’ he chuckled, ‘although I still don’t fully get the connection between your folks and Merry.’


‘Nor do I, to be honest, and I get the feeling we’re probably barking up the wrong tree, but we thought we’d try anyway,’ CeCe said, feeling deflated and exhausted.


‘Mary-Kate did leave messages for her mum saying we were coming. And one for Bridget. Didn’t they get them?’ said Chrissie.


‘I dunno, ’cos I was out all day yesterday fixing up a bathroom for a mate of mine. To be honest, I don’t know much about Merry, love. I met Bridge two years ago when she asked me to build this for her.’ He indicated the bungalow. ‘My parents brought me across from Brisbane when I was a kid, and I’m a builder by trade. My first wife died some years past, and when Bridge moved here, she was single too. Never thought I’d find another woman at my age, but we clicked right from the start. We got hitched six months ago,’ he beamed.


‘So you haven’t known Merry long?’


‘No, I only met her for the first time at our wedding.’


‘Is your wife Irish by any chance?’ continued Chrissie doggedly.


‘Ya guessed then,’ Tony nodded. ‘She is, and proud of her heritage too.’


‘We were told that Merry is originally Irish as well,’ said CeCe.


‘All I know is that they were at school and then uni in Dublin together. They lost contact for a long time – it happens, doesn’t it, when people move away after uni? But now they’re thick as thieves again. Can I get you guys a sarnie? My belly’s rumbling f’sure.’


‘If it’s no trouble, that would be fantastic,’ CeCe put in before Chrissie could politely decline. Her belly was rumbling too. ‘We can come in and help you,’ she added.


They followed Tony into a neat kitchen, which he proudly said he’d built himself.


‘Never thought I’d get ta live in it, mind,’ he said as he pulled cheese and ham out of the fridge. ‘We’re a bit low on supplies – everything has to be brought in by boat or plane, y’see. A new delivery isn’t until tomorrow.’


‘It must be amazing living here,’ said Chrissie as she buttered the bread.


‘For the main part, yeah,’ Tony agreed. ‘But like Robinson Crusoe, island living has its drawbacks. There’s not much here for the young ’uns and a lot o’ them leave the island to go to uni or find work. The internet is bloody terrible and unless you’ve got your own business like me, tourism’s the only main industry. It’s becoming an island of old folks, though there are changes coming to improve things, get some new blood. It’s a beaut place to bring up kids. Everyone knows everyone here and there’s a real sense of community. It’s dead friendly and there’s very little crime. Right, shall we take our tucker outside, eh?’


The girls followed Tony back out onto the terrace and launched into their sandwiches.


‘Tony?’


‘Yeah, CeCe?’


‘I just wondered if, while she was here, you’d seen Merry wearing an emerald ring?’


Tony burst into a deep throaty chuckle.


‘Can’t say I look at stuff like that. Bridge says I’d never even notice if she came in dressed as Santa Claus, and she’s probably right. Although . . . hang on a minute . . .’ He put his fingers to his short beard and stroked it. ‘Come ta think of it, I do remember a couple of nights ago, Bridge and Merry comparing rings. The one I bought for Bridge as an engagement ring had a green stone, of course . . . her being Irish an’ all.’


‘And . . .?’ CeCe leant forward.


‘Merry was wearing an emerald ring too – they put their fingers together and shared one of those looks girls share, y’know?’


‘So, she was actually wearing an emerald ring?’


‘Yeah, she was. They were laughing, because Bridge said her emerald was bigger than Merry’s.’


‘Right.’ CeCe and Chrissie exchanged a glance. ‘That’s encouraging,’ CeCe nodded. ‘Maybe we’re on the right path after all. Do you happen to know where she’s going after Sydney?’


‘Yeah, she’s headed to Canada – Toronto, I think she said, but I can check with Bridge.’


Chrissie looked at her watch. ‘Thanks for your help and the sarnie, Tony. We’re gonna get in a swim before we go to the airport.’


‘Well, why don’t we get the plates cleaned up – I don’t want ta leave any mess around the place for Bridge to complain about – then you can jump in my pick-up and we’ll do a quick tour of the island and finish off with a swim?’


‘Wow! We’d love to,’ smiled CeCe.
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After a whistle-stop tour of the island, which could be reached end to end within twenty minutes, Tony drove them down a narrow road.


‘Check out those.’ Tony pointed at the row of ancient trees which towered above them.


‘They look prehistoric. What are they?’ asked CeCe.


‘They’re Moreton Bay fig trees; some of them are over a hundred years old,’ Tony told her as the road led them past the airport runway and wound downwards, opening out at a small bridge and a cluster of stone buildings. They arrived in front of an almost deserted beach, where gentle waves lapped at the shore. In the distance a line of foaming white breakers indicated a reef. Tony led them to the hut that provided changing facilities and they emerged in their swimwear with their towels around their waists.


‘Race ya!’ called Tony, beginning to run across the warm sand towards the waves. ‘Last one in’s a sissy!’ he said as he splashed up to his waist then dived in. A few metres from the water’s edge, CeCe helped Chrissie take off her prosthetic leg. Chrissie wrapped it up in a towel and placed it a safe distance from the waves.


‘It always freaks me out that someone will come and steal it,’ said Chrissie as CeCe helped her move towards the sea.


‘Even I can’t imagine anyone being mean enough to do that,’ said CeCe. ‘Right, off we go. Try not to leave me behind,’ she called as Chrissie immediately dived in. Even though she only had one leg to propel her forwards, being an ex-champion swimmer, she always left CeCe playing catch-up within a few strokes.


‘Isn’t it fantastic?’ Tony shouted from where he was treading water a few metres away.


‘It sure is,’ said Chrissie, who was floating on her back, her face in the sun. ‘Wow, I hadn’t realised how much I miss the sea, now that we live in the Alice,’ she said as she turned to head out further.


‘Chrissie, please don’t go out too far!’ she shouted. ‘I don’t want you getting into trouble, ’cos I’m not strong enough to save you.’


As usual, Chrissie took no notice of her, and eventually, CeCe swam back to shore and lay down on the sand to dry off.


‘Your mate’s quite a swimmer, isn’t she?’ said Tony, who had also come out of the water and sat down next to her. ‘What happened to her leg?’


CeCe told him how Chrissie had lost her leg when she was fifteen, due to complications with meningitis, which had led to septicaemia.


‘Before that,’ CeCe sighed, ‘she was the best swimmer in all of Western Australia. She was about to try out for the Olympic team.’


‘Life’s a bitch sometimes, isn’t it? It’s good ta see she’s still at it, though, eh?’


‘Yeah, but I’m shit-scared she’s gonna disappear under those waves and never come up again.’


‘I doubt it, look at her go,’ smiled Tony. ‘Well, we should be off if ya need ta catch that plane.’


CeCe stood up and waved her arms above her head to summon Chrissie back to shore. Once they were dressed, Tony drove them the few minutes to the airport.


‘If we’re lucky, Bridge might come through before you’re called for your flight,’ he said as he parked his truck in front of the terminal. They heard the thrum of a plane coming in to land.


‘How do you fancy a trip here when we’re back from Europe, Chrissie?’ said CeCe as they followed Tony to the terminal building. ‘I love this island.’


‘Okay, but let’s do Europe first, eh, Cee? I can’t tell you how stoked I am to see it.’


‘Oh, it’s very boring compared to this. Chock-full of people and old monuments.’


‘Hey, I’ll see it for myself and then decide what I think,’ Chrissie smiled. ‘Look, the plane has landed.’


‘We’ll go to the veranda in the viewing area, eh?’ said Tony. ‘At least ya might get ta say hello.’


‘Okay, great,’ said CeCe. The doors of the tiny plane had just opened and the first passengers were disembarking.


‘Look, there she is! Bridge, I’m over here!’ he shouted at a loudly dressed, buxom woman with red hair, who was clutching a number of shopping bags as she descended the steps from the plane. Tony received a smile and a wave back. ‘Come on, let’s go say hi.’


CeCe’s heart thumped in her chest as the woman approached the fence that separated the arriving passengers yet to clear customs from people waiting to greet them. Bridget came to a halt in front of them and perched her huge sunglasses on top of her head.


‘How are ya, doll? Missed ya.’ He kissed her over the fence. ‘Listen, I’ve had two young ladies visit me whilst you were away. They came because they thought Merry was still on the island. Bridge, this is CeCe and Chrissie.’


Perhaps it’s just me being oversensitive, CeCe thought, but her whole expression has changed since Tony said who we are, and she doesn’t look happy.


‘Hello there,’ Bridget said as she forced a smile.


‘They wanted ta know whether Merry was wearing an emerald ring when she was staying with us?’ Tony continued. ‘I said she was. Was I right for a change?’


‘I can’t be remembering details like that, love,’ she said, lowering her sunglasses back down over her eyes.


‘I thought I heard the two of youse chatting about having similar rings?’


‘I think you’d been dreaming or had a skinful that night, Tony, ’cos I’m not remembering any talk of rings.’


‘But—’


‘Now, I’d better be getting myself through customs. They’ll probably stop me, what with all the shopping I’ve done in Sydney. ’Twas nice to meet the two of you,’ Bridget said. ‘I’ll see you on the other side,’ she said pointedly to Tony.


As she disappeared inside the terminal, Tony turned to the girls.


‘We’d better be getting ourselves inside too, because they’ll be calling f’youse ta board any second.’


The flight call was already up on the display board and Sydney passengers were beginning to queue for security.


‘Can we swap mobile numbers?’ CeCe asked him as she produced her phone. They did so as they drew nearer to security.


‘It really was lovely to meet you and to see a bit of Norfolk Island,’ said CeCe. ‘And thank you so much for your hospitality.’


‘It was fun ta meet you two. And if you do decide to come back, just bowl round to our place for a visit, eh?’ he said.


‘Bye, Tony, and thank you again!’


‘Oh! How cute is this?!’ Chrissie said as they reached security and she pulled out a tray that still had a sticky label on it telling the passenger it was for cat litter.


‘Yeah,’ commented CeCe as they watched their mobiles and wet swimming clothes disappear into the tunnel. ‘Bridget wasn’t very happy to see us, was she?’


‘No,’ said Chrissie as they passed through the scanner and began to collect their belongings. ‘She definitely wasn’t.’


‘I wonder why?’ CeCe mused. ‘What does she know that we don’t?’


‘At this moment in time,’ Chrissie replied as they walked towards the boarding queue, ‘everything.’
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‘It’s for you,’ Claudia said as she handed Maia the receiver. ‘It’s CeCe.’


‘Ally!’ Maia called onto the terrace, where her sister was sitting in the sunshine, finishing lunch. ‘Hi, CeCe,’ she said as Ally walked inside and they put their heads together to listen. ‘Where are you?’


‘We’re in Sydney. We’re about to check in for London, but I thought I’d call before we do and bring you up to date.’


‘Have you found her?’


‘Well, we met Mary-Kate McDougal. We think she could be the missing sister, ’cos she told us she was adopted, which would fit ’cos we all are. She’s twenty-two, by the way, so that would fit too.’


‘Fantastic!’ said Ally.


‘What about the emerald ring?’ Maia asked. ‘Did she recognise it?’


‘She thinks she did. If it’s the same one, then it was given to her by her mum on her twenty-first.’


‘Wow!’ said Ally. ‘Maybe you have found her then! Did you see the ring?’


‘Er, no, we didn’t, ’cos her mum, who’s also called Mary, but goes by the nickname of “Merry”, asked Mary-Kate if she could take it with her on this world tour she’s on. Apparently it was hers originally. We actually managed to miss her twice – the first time by just a couple of days. And the second time . . . well, Chrissie and I have discussed it, and we wonder if it was because she knew we were coming that Merry left Norfolk Island a night early.’


‘Norfolk Island? Where on earth is that?’ Maia asked.


‘It’s in the South Pacific, just between New Zealand and Australia. It’s really beautiful, but kinda stuck in the past – there’s hardly any phone signal,’ said CeCe. ‘Mary-Kate said her mum was heading to the island to see her best friend Bridget. So we followed her there, but she’d already left.’


‘Damn!’ Ally muttered. ‘So she’s in Sydney now?’


‘No. Looking at the departures board here, we think her plane’s just left and is headed for Toronto in Canada. We’re just checking that we’re okay to get on our London flight?’


‘I’m totally confused,’ Ally sighed, ‘but if she’s left, then yes, of course. Are you sure she’s headed for Toronto?’


‘Yup. I just called Mary-Kate, her daughter, who confirmed it was the next destination on her schedule. She said she’d try to find out where her mum is staying. Sorry to disappoint you, Ally. We did our best.’


‘Don’t be silly, CeCe. You and Chrissie have done a fantastic job, so thank you.’


‘I think we’re on the right track, but we still need to see that ring,’ said CeCe. ‘Listen, we have to go check in right now, but there’s more to tell you, like Merry is apparently Irish, and Mary-Kate has a brother and—’


‘You go,’ Ally said, ‘and call us when you’ve landed. Thanks for finding all that out for us.’


Putting the phone down, Ally and Maia looked at each other and wandered back onto the terrace.


‘So . . . could you make sense of all that?’ said Maia.


‘Let me get a pad and a pen so we can write down what she said.’ Ally darted back into the kitchen and returned with what she needed. She began to write.


‘Number one: we have a young woman called Mary-Kate McDougal who is twenty-two. Number two: we’ve identified that the emerald ring might be the one originally owned by her mum. She was given it on her twenty-first birthday.’


‘Number three, and probably most importantly: we know Mary-Kate was adopted,’ cut in Maia.


‘Number four: her mum is also called Mary, commonly known as “Merry”,’ said Ally. ‘Number five: Merry currently has the emerald ring which we need to see if we’re to confirm that Mary-Kate is our missing sister.’


‘And CeCe said there’s a brother, remember . . .’


Ally wrote that down too, chewed her pen and then wrote Toronto.


‘So, if we find out where she’s staying, who should we send to Toronto?’ asked Ally.


‘You think it’s worth pursuing?’


‘Don’t you?’


Maia’s eyes travelled to the path which led to Pa Salt’s garden.


‘Merope’s name was engraved on one band of the armillary sphere along with ours,’ said Maia. ‘Pa wouldn’t have had it included unless she existed, surely?’


‘Unless it was wishful thinking. But more importantly, Georg really believes this is her. He said that the information came from Pa just before he died. The proof was that her name is Mary McDougal, who lives at The Vinery in New Zealand, which we now know is true. And she owns an unusual emerald ring. Which Mary-Kate thought she recognised from the picture, but . . .’


‘Maybe Georg has more information. Let’s give him a call, shall we?’ Maia suggested.


Ally went into the kitchen and dialled the number to Georg’s office. After a few seconds, she was greeted by the light voice of his secretary.


‘Hello, Giselle, it’s Ally D’Aplièse here. Is Georg in?’


‘Désolée, Mademoiselle D’Aplièse, Monsieur Hoffman has been called away.’


‘Oh, I see. When will he be back?’


‘I am afraid I do not know, but he wanted me to reassure your family that he would return in time for the boat trip later this month,’ said Giselle.


‘Can you pass on a message to him, please?’ Ally asked. ‘It’s urgent.’


‘I am so sorry, Mademoiselle D’Aplièse, but I am not able to contact him until he returns. I will make sure he calls you when he is back. Au revoir.’


Before Ally could respond, Giselle hung up the phone. Ally returned to the terrace, shaking her head in confusion.


‘Maia, Georg’s gone.’


‘What do you mean “gone”?’


‘His secretary says he’s been called away and can’t be contacted. Apparently he won’t be back until the boat trip.’


‘He’s a busy man; Pa can’t have been his only client.’


‘Of course, but he probably has the information we need,’ said Ally, ‘and he left in such a rush when he was last here. All we have is a name and a picture of a ring. Well, I suppose we’ll just have to continue without him.’


‘So we should try and track down Mary-Kate’s mum in Canada?’


‘Surely we have to at least try? What do we have to lose?’ said Ally.


‘Nothing, I suppose,’ Maia agreed. ‘But who do we send to Toronto?’


‘Well, our nearest sister is Electra, but I’d have to see how far Toronto is from New York,’ Ally replied.


‘I don’t think it’s far,’ said Maia. ‘We could ask Electra if she can go in the next few days, but I know she’s been inundated by the media since the Concert for Africa the other night. She may not have the time. When I was in Geneva yesterday, her face was all over the newspapers.’


‘She certainly knows how to grab the attention, doesn’t she?’


‘Honestly, Ally, she’s sounded so much better since she came out of rehab. I don’t think her speech at the concert was about getting attention. She’s serious about helping others with addiction problems and it’s wonderful that she can use her fame for good, don’t you think? She’s become an inspiring role model.’


‘Yes, of course she is.’ Ally yawned. ‘Forgive me; I’ve become a ratty old bag in the past few weeks.’


‘It’s only because you’re permanently exhausted,’ Maia comforted her.


‘Yup, I am. I thought that after all I’ve been through in my sailing career, having a baby alone would be easy, but you know what? It’s the hardest thing I’ve ever done, especially the “alone” bit.’


‘Everyone says it gets easier after the initial months, and at least for the next few weeks, Bear will have lots of aunties around to look after him.’


‘I know, and Ma has been wonderful. It’s just that sometimes, well . . .’


‘What?’


‘I look into the future and see myself alone,’ Ally admitted. ‘I can’t imagine meeting anyone I can love as much as I loved Theo. I know we were only together a short time – which is what everyone says when they try to comfort me – but it felt like forever to me. And . . .’ Ally shook her head as tears fell down her pale cheeks.


‘I’m so, so sorry, darling.’ Maia put her arms around her younger sister. ‘There’s no point in trying to tell you that time heals, that you’re still young and of course you’ve got a future ahead of you, because for now, you can’t see it. But it is there, I promise.’


‘Maybe, but then I feel so guilty. I should just be happy because I’ve got Bear. Of course I love him to the depths of my soul and yes, he’s the best thing that’s ever happened to me but . . . I miss Theo so, so much. Sorry, sorry . . . I never normally cry.’


‘I know you don’t, but it’s good to let it out, Ally. You’re so very strong, or at least, your pride doesn’t allow you to be weak, but everyone has their breaking point.’


‘I think I just need some sleep – proper sleep. Even when Ma is doing the night shift, I still wake up when I hear Bear cry.’


‘Maybe we could arrange for you to take a short holiday – I’m sure Ma and I could cope with Bear here.’


Ally looked at her in horror. ‘What kind of mother takes a “holiday” from her baby?’


‘Those that can, I should think,’ replied Maia pragmatically. ‘If you look back to the old days, new mums didn’t rely on their husbands; they had plenty of female relatives who would support them. You’ve had none of that support since you moved to Norway. Please don’t beat yourself up, Ally, I know how hard it is to settle in a new country, and at least I speak the language in Brazil.’


‘I’ve done my best to learn, but Norwegian is so difficult. There were a few nice mums at my antenatal classes who spoke some English, but since we’ve all had our babies, we’ve gone our separate ways. They have their own families around them, you know? I’ve begun to wonder whether it was a mistake moving there in the first place. It would be fine if I was playing in the orchestra, keeping busy, but for now I’m just stuck at home in the middle of nowhere with Bear.’ Ally wiped her eyes harshly with her hands. ‘Oh God, I’m sounding so self-indulgent.’


‘You’re not at all, and decisions can always be reversed, you know. Maybe these few weeks here at Atlantis, and then being back on your beloved ocean, will give you some time to reflect.’


‘Yes, but where would I go? I mean, I love Ma and Claudia dearly, but I don’t think I could ever move back to Atlantis permanently.’


‘Nor could I, but there are other places in the world, Ally. You could say it’s your oyster.’


‘So you reckon I should just stick a pin in the map and go wherever it points to, do you? It doesn’t work like that. Got a tissue?’


‘Here,’ said Maia, digging into a jean pocket and producing a tissue. ‘Well, Auntie Maia suggests that you take a nap now, then let me and Ma sort Bear out tonight. I’m jet-lagged anyway, so I’ll be up until all hours. Truly, Ally, I think that your brain has just been scrambled by exhaustion. It’s important you get some rest before our sisters start arriving.’


‘You’re right,’ Ally sighed, as she slipped a hairband from her wrist and twisted her curls into a knot on top of her head. ‘Okay, if you’re offering, I’ll take you up on it. I’ll stuff earplugs in tonight and try to ignore the squalling.’


‘Why don’t you sleep in one of the spare bedrooms below us on Pa’s floor? That way you won’t be woken if Bear starts crying. For now, I’ll check flights from New York to Toronto and then give Electra a call to see if she wouldn’t mind going.’


‘Okay. Right, I’m going to take that nap. Bear’s bottles are all in the fridge if you need them – the nappies are on his changing unit and—’


‘I know the drill, Ally,’ replied Maia gently. ‘Now, go upstairs and get some sleep.’
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Once the internet had informed her that Toronto was under two hours’ flight from Manhattan, Maia picked up her mobile and dialled Electra’s number. Not expecting her to answer as it was so early in New York, she was surprised to hear her sister’s voice at the other end of the line.


‘Maia! How are you?’


Even her phone response is different now . . . Maia thought. Before, Electra would never have asked how she was.


‘I’m jet-lagged from the flight here, but it’s great to be at Atlantis and see Ma, Claudia and Ally. And how are you, Miss Global Superstar?’


‘OMG, Maia! I never, ever expected the kinda feedback I got from my speech. It feels like every newspaper and TV channel in the world wants to speak to me. Mariam – remember my assistant? – has had to hire a temp to help her. I’m . . . overwhelmed.’


‘I bet you are, but at least it’s for all the right reasons, isn’t it?’


‘Yeah, it is, and Stella – my grandmother – has been great. She’s been dealing with a lot of the charity stuff. From what she said, we’ve already had enough donations to open five drop-in centres, and there’s also been tons of charities offering me seats on their boards to act as a spokeswoman and stuff. Best of all, UNICEF have been in touch to ask if I’d consider becoming a global ambassador for them. That made Stella real proud, which was nice.’


‘That all sounds fantastic, Electra! It’s no more than you deserve. You’re a true inspiration to those who are struggling like you have. Just make sure you don’t end up relapsing under the pressure.’


‘Oh, don’t worry, I won’t relapse. This is happy pressure, not sad, if you know what I mean. I feel . . . exhilarated. And Miles has also been great.’


‘Miles . . . isn’t he the guy you were in rehab with?’


‘Yeah, and, well . . . we’ve become real close over the past few weeks. In fact, I was thinking that if he can spare the time, maybe I’d bring him along with me to Atlantis. He’s a superhot lawyer, so I can just send him into battle when I need to fight my corner against all you sisters.’


Electra chuckled, and it was a blissful, natural sound that Maia hadn’t heard from her in years.


‘If any of us can fight our corner in this crazy family of ours, then it’s you, Electra, but of course he’s welcome. I think everyone’s bringing someone with them, except Ally. Her brother Thom can’t come as he’s on tour with the Bergen Philharmonic.’


‘Well, at least she has Bear.’


‘She does, yes, but she’s feeling pretty low at the moment.’


‘Yeah, I got that from the phone call we had recently. Never mind, we’ll all be around to cheer her up and do some babysitting. So, is this just a call to see how I’m doing, or was there a reason for it?’


‘Both, actually. Did you read the email Ally sent to you, Tiggy and Star?’


‘I didn’t. As I said, I’ve been inundated. Even Mariam hasn’t been able to get up to date yet. What was it about?’


Maia explained as succinctly as she could the events since Georg’s surprise visit to them on the night of the Concert for Africa.


‘. . . So we now know that Mary-Kate’s mum, more commonly known as Merry, has apparently flown on to Toronto. She has the emerald ring with her, which Georg told us is the proof we need to identify the missing sister. We’re still waiting to see if we can get an address for Merry over there, but if we can – and I’m sorry to ask you this when you’re so busy – could you possibly spare a day to fly up to meet with her? It’s only an hour and forty minutes to Toronto from NYC, so . . .’


‘I’m sure I could, Maia. In fact, I’d actually appreciate a chance to get out of the city right now. I’ll bring Mariam with me; she’s great at getting information out of people.’


‘Okay, well, that’s fantastic, Electra! I just hope we get to find out where she’s staying and then I’ll be in touch.’


‘Do you think this really might lead us to the missing sister?’


‘I don’t know, but Georg seemed certain about this information.’


‘Wow, wouldn’t it be incredible if we could get her to come lay the wreath with us? That would have made Pa so happy.’


‘Yes, it would, and with your help, we just might. Now, I’m sure you have a busy day ahead of you, so I’ll let you go. Congratulations again, little sister. What you did – and want to do – is incredible.’


‘Gee, thanks, big sis. Let me know if you get that address and see you soon!’


After ending the call, Maia left the house and walked across to enter the Pavilion, closing the door behind her. Although she had chosen to sleep in her childhood room in the main house to be closer to Ally, her old home here – where she had lived alone for so long as an adult – had been kept clean and aired by Claudia. And it was where she, Floriano and Valentina would stay when they arrived. She went into the bedroom and opened her underwear drawer. Feeling around at the bottom of it, she drew out what she was looking for, then stared at it.


Yes, it was still there. Secreting it back in the drawer, Maia walked to the bed and sat down. She thought about what Ally had said earlier; about how she felt guilty because she was low at a time when she should be happy. This was partly true of her too just now, because something she’d wanted for a long time had finally happened. Yet at the same time, it had produced a metamorphosis inside her brain, which seemed determined to drag up painful events from her past . . .


As she forced herself to stand up, she decided that she was glad she had some space from Floriano, some time to work out her thoughts and feelings before she spoke to him.


‘There’s no rush,’ she whispered as she looked around her at the rooms she had lived in for so long. Being back here, where she now acknowledged she’d hidden herself away from the world like a wounded animal, made tears prick her eyes. Atlantis had been such a safe, secure universe where day-to-day problems were few. And just now, she only wished she could recapture that feeling, and that Pa was still next door, because she was scared . . .
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As the rain lashed against the windows and a wind howled through the valley, I finally gave up on the lyrics to a new song I’d been trying to compose on the keyboard. Yesterday, Fletch and I had worked together in the sitting room as a storm raged outside.


‘We could do with a fire, mate,’ Fletch had said. ‘Winter’s here.’


I’d swallowed hard, because Mum’s lighting of the first fire of the year was something that only she did, but she wasn’t here, and nor were Dad or Jack . . .


Then I’d reminded myself that I was twenty-two years old and an adult. So, getting Fletch to take a photograph – Dad had always marked the annual occasion this way, like other families did with birthdays or Christmas – I lit the fire.


After Fletch had taken off back to Dunedin this afternoon (Sissy having needed a jump-start), I’d been determined to improve on the lyrics I’d been tinkering with. Fletch had worked on a great tune, but he said my lyrics were ‘depressing’. He was right. I didn’t know whether it was the fact I felt so alone just now, or the general confusion after CeCe and Chrissie had left to find Mum on Norfolk Island, but nothing was coming creatively.


‘What do you reckon about those girls then, eh?’ Fletch had asked over a bottle of wine. ‘They could be a link to your long-lost family, and they seem pretty cool – not to mention rich, if they’ve got this boat in the Med.’


‘I don’t know what to make of it. I wasn’t lying when I told them I’ve never thought of finding my birth family. I’m a McDougal,’ I’d added firmly.


But now, alone with my thoughts and rattling around in a house that was full of memories of Dad, the question of my birth family wouldn’t leave me alone.


I played a dissonant chord in frustration, and looked up at the clock. It was midnight now, which meant that it was the morning in Toronto.


You have to speak to her . . .


Gulping down my nerves, I reached for the house phone to dial Mum’s mobile number. She probably won’t answer anyway, I comforted myself.


‘Hi, sweetheart, is that you?’ came Mum’s voice after a couple of rings. I could hear how tired she sounded.


‘Yes, hi, Mum. Where are you?’


‘I’ve just checked into the Radisson here in Toronto. Is everything all right?’


‘Yup, fine,’ I said. ‘Um, did you get my message the other day? About those two girls, CeCe and Chrissie, who wanted to meet you?’


‘Yes, I did.’ There was a pause on the line. Eventually she said, ‘Unfortunately I’d already left for Sydney with Bridget when they arrived on the island. What were they like?’


‘Honestly, Mum, they were really sweet. Fletch was here and we had them stay for dinner. They just genuinely want to find this “missing sister”, as they kept calling her. I did explain on my message—’


‘Did they say if they were working with others?’ Mum cut in.


‘Well, yes, if you mean the other sisters helping to find you – CeCe said she had five of them. They’re all adopted too, like me. Umm, Mum . . .’


‘Yes, sweetheart?’


I shut my eyes and took a deep breath. ‘Mum, I know I’ve never needed to know about my . . . birth family, but their questions got me wondering if maybe I should know more about them.’


‘Of course, darling, I understand. Please don’t be embarrassed about saying it.’


‘I love you and Dad and Jack more than anything and you are my family,’ I said quickly. ‘But I’ve been talking to Fletch about it, and I think it might be good to know a little more about this other part of me. Oh Mum, I don’t want to upset you . . .’ My voice broke, and I wished with all my heart that she were here with me, to take me into her comforting arms as she had always done.


‘It’s all right, Mary-Kate, really. Listen, why don’t we sit down together when I’m home again, and then we can talk about it?’


‘Thanks, yeah, that’d be great.’


‘Those girls haven’t contacted you again, have they?’


‘Well . . . I spoke to CeCe briefly on the phone, but honestly, Mum, all they want is to see the emerald ring – the one you gave me on my twenty-first. They’ve got a drawing of it.’


‘You said so in your message. Did they say where they got the drawing from?’


‘Their lawyer, apparently. Mum, are you all right? You sound . . . a bit unlike yourself.’


‘I’m absolutely fine, Mary-Kate, just worried about you. Is Fletch still there?’


‘No, he left this arvo.’


‘Okay, but Doug’s around?’


‘Yup. And the guys doing the pulling out are in the annexe. I’m perfectly safe.’


‘Okay, well, don’t go letting any more strangers into the house, will you?’


‘You and Dad always did,’ I countered.


‘I know, but you’re all alone there, sweetheart. It’s different. Are you sure you don’t want to fly out and join me in Toronto?’


‘Where’s all this come from, Mum? You and Dad always said the Valley was the safest place on earth! You’re freaking me out!’


‘Sorry, I’m sorry. I just don’t like to think of my little girl all on her own. Keep in touch, won’t you?’


‘’Course. Oh, also . . .’ – I swallowed hard because I really needed to be sure – ‘just before you go, can I check that I was adopted locally?’


‘Yes, you were. It was an agency in Christchurch. Green and something.’


‘Okay, thanks, Mum. Well, I’m gonna head for bed. Love you.’


‘Love you too, darling, and take care, please.’


‘I will. Bye.’


I put the phone back on the hook and sat down heavily on the sofa. Mum had sounded so strange and tense, not like herself at all. Even if she said she didn’t mind about a link to my possible birth family turning up, she almost certainly did.


We’d speak when she got home, she’d said . . .


‘But when is that going to be?’ I said aloud to the empty room. Given all the countries she wanted to visit, it could be months before we could have a real conversation, and now that the spark had been ignited, I had a burning need for answers. I’d also give CeCe a call tomorrow to say Mum was at the Radisson – if that ring could be identified, it might identify me, and I needed to know, even if it wasn’t what Mum wanted.


Coming to a decision, I got up and turned on the old computer on the table. My foot tapping impatiently as it loaded, I opened the web browser and went to Google.


Green and . . . adoption agency Christchurch New Zealand, I typed into the search bar.


Then I held my breath and hit Enter.
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‘I never thought I’d say this but, wow, sleeping is great,’ Ally announced as she joined Maia in the kitchen for a late breakfast the next morning. ‘You’re as white as a sheet again. I’m presuming you didn’t get much yourself?’


‘No. I just can’t seem to shake the jet lag,’ Maia shrugged.


‘You should have done by now; you’ve been back four days. Are you sure you’re okay? How’s the tummy?’


‘Not great, but I’ll be fine.’


‘Maybe you should go to Dr Krause in Geneva and get checked over.’


‘I will if I’m not feeling better in the next couple of days. Anyway, I’m glad you slept, Ally. You look like a different person.’


‘I feel it. Where is His Majesty, by the way?’


‘Ma took him out for a walk around the garden. You remember how obsessed she was with all of us kids being outside?’


‘I do. And how much I hated walking that great big Silver Cross pram around and around the garden, trying to get Electra or Tiggy off to sleep!’


‘Talking of Tiggy, I haven’t heard back from her or Star since you sent the email about the missing sister,’ said Maia. ‘Have you?’


‘No, although CeCe said she’d mention it to Star, and you know what communications are like where Tiggy lives. She may not even have got the email yet. I just don’t understand how people can live so cut off from the rest of the world.’


‘You were when you were sailing, though, weren’t you?’


‘I suppose so, but there have been very few times when I’ve spent more than a couple of days away from any contact. There’s normally a handy port where I can catch up on texts and emails.’


‘You’re a real people person, aren’t you, Ally?’


‘I’ve never really thought about it,’ she mused, sitting down with her mug of coffee. ‘I suppose I am.’


‘Maybe that’s why you find it so hard living in Norway: you don’t know many people there and even if you do, it’s hard to communicate with them.’


Ally stared at Maia, then nodded. ‘You know what? You might be right. I’m used to living with a lot of people around me. All the sisters here at Atlantis, then sleeping with crews in tiny spaces. I don’t do “alone”, do I?’


‘No. Whereas I love my own space.’


‘You’ve had the opposite experience to me,’ Ally pointed out. ‘I’ve had to get used to being by myself, but after years alone here, you’ve had Floriano and Valentina living with you.’


‘Yes, and it’s been difficult to adjust to, especially as our apartment is so small and in the middle of a crowded city. That’s why I enjoy going out to the fazenda – the farm I inherited. I can have some headspace there, some peace. Without it, I might go mad. We hope to get a bigger apartment at some point when cash flow allows.’


‘Talking of cash flow,’ said Ally, ‘I’m going to have to speak to Georg when he gets back, because I’m almost broke. I haven’t worked for months, so I’m reliant on the small income I get from the trust. I used all my savings and sold Theo’s boat to renovate the Bergen house, but the cash didn’t cover everything that needed doing so I had to ask Georg for a bit extra. I feel weird about asking him for more now, mainly because of pride – I’ve always supported myself in the past.’


‘I know you have, Ally,’ Maia said gently.


‘I’ve got no choice, unless I sell the old barn Theo left me on the Greek island he always called “Somewhere”. Besides, no one would buy it until I’ve renovated it – which I don’t have the finances to do – and I should try to keep it for Bear.’


‘Of course you should.’


‘I’m not even sure how much money Pa left us. Are you?’ Ally asked her.


‘No. Those few days last year after Pa died are just a blur, and I can’t remember exactly what Georg said about the finances,’ Maia admitted. ‘I think it would be a good idea if, when we’re all back here after the cruise down to Delos, we ask him to explain how the trust works, so we can be clear about how much we have, and what we can use it for.’


‘That would be good, yes, but I still feel awful having to ask for help in the first place. Pa taught us to stand on our own two feet,’ sighed Ally.


‘On the other hand, when a parent . . . dies, the children get left money in the will, which they are free to spend as they choose,’ said Maia. ‘We need to understand that we are in charge now – even if we find it difficult to remember that Georg works for us, not the other way round. It’s our money and we shouldn’t be scared of asking for it. Georg isn’t our moral compass; that was Pa, remember? And he taught us not to abuse what we were lucky enough to be given. Being a single mother because your partner has died is one of the best reasons for needing financial support, Ally. If Pa was alive today, I know he would think so too.’


‘You’re right. Thank you, Maia.’ Ally stretched out her hand to her sister. ‘I’ve missed you a lot, you know. You’ve always been the calming voice of reason. I just wish you didn’t live so far away.’


‘I’m hoping that you and Bear will come and visit Brazil soon. It’s an amazing country and . . .’


The telephone rang and Ally jumped up to catch the call.


‘Allô, Ally D’Aplièse speaking. Who? Oh, hi, Mary-Kate,’ she said as she beckoned Maia over to listen. ‘It’s very nice to speak to you. CeCe has told me all about meeting you in New Zealand. I have Maia – our eldest sister – here with me too.’


‘Hi, Mary-Kate,’ Maia said.


‘Hi, Maia,’ came Mary-Kate’s gentle voice, ‘it’s good to talk to you too. CeCe left me this number and as I can’t get hold of her, I hope it’s okay that I’ve rung you.’


‘Of course it is.’ Ally took over again.


‘I know CeCe and her friend Chrissie were trying to find out which hotel my mum is staying at in Toronto. I spoke to Mum last night and she said she’s staying at the Radisson. I have all the details.’ Both Maia and Ally could hear the tinge of excitement in Mary-Kate’s voice. ‘Shall I give them to you or wait until I get hold of CeCe?’


‘To us, please,’ said Ally, grabbing the pen and notepad that sat by the kitchen phone. ‘Fire away.’ Ally scribbled the address and the telephone number down. ‘Thanks, Mary-Kate, that’s fantastic.’


‘So, what will you do? Will you guys fly over to see her?’


‘We have a sister who lives in Manhattan. She’s only a short plane ride away, so she’s said that she might go.’


‘Wow, your family sounds interesting. Odd, but interesting,’ Mary-Kate chuckled. ‘Whoops! I didn’t mean to be rude or anything . . .’


‘Oh, don’t worry, we’re used to it,’ said Ally. ‘I’m sure CeCe told you that if we confirm that ring of yours that your mum has got with her is the right one, then it would be fantastic for you to fly over to visit and come with us later this month on our boat trip for our father’s memorial.’


‘That’s so nice of you, but I don’t think I could afford it.’


‘Oh, all costs of flights would be covered by our family trust,’ Ally said hastily.


‘Okay, thanks, I’ll think about it. Anyway, let’s see if your sister manages to hook up with my mum and ask her about that ring. Just . . . well, I think Mum’s feeling a bit weird about CeCe and Chrissie turning up on the doorstep, y’know? I haven’t said yet that another sister might be coming to see her in Toronto. I think that after Dad’s death, she’s feeling vulnerable.’


‘I understand completely, Mary-Kate. We can always leave it if you’d prefer,’ Maia replied diplomatically.


‘I don’t want to upset her or anything, but actually, I’d really like to know if I am your missing sister. Does that sound mean?’


‘No, not at all. I’m sure it’s a very difficult thing for the adoptive mum when a possible set of relatives turns up, especially out of the blue. That’s our fault, Mary-Kate. We should have written to you first, but we were all so excited that we might have found you, we didn’t think.’


‘Well, I’m glad CeCe and Chrissie came, but . . .’


‘I promise to tell Electra to tread carefully.’


‘Electra . . . so she’s the sixth sister?’


‘She is,’ Ally confirmed, surprise in her voice. ‘You know your mythology.’


‘Oh, I do. I was telling CeCe that Mum studied Classics at uni and had a bit of an obsession with all those Greek myths. Electra’s such an unusual name, isn’t it? There’s only one Electra I know of, and that’s the supermodel. I caught her speech on TV a few nights ago. That’s not your sister, is it?’


‘It is, actually.’


‘Shit! I mean . . . seriously? She’s, like, well, she’s always been an idol of mine. She’s so beautiful and elegant and that speech showed she’s got a brain and compassion in spades. I think I might collapse on the spot if I met her!’


‘Don’t worry, we’ll hold you up,’ said Ally, sharing a smile with Maia. ‘Right then, speak soon.’


‘Yes. And if you do speak to Electra, tell her from me that I think she’s amazing.’


‘I will, and going back to what you were saying before, I do think we should give your mum some warning that Electra’s coming tomorrow. If you like, I’ll leave a message at the hotel reception later, saying that my sister might be visiting.’


‘Okay, yes, that would be good. Thanks, Maia. Bye.’


‘Bye, Mary-Kate, and thanks for calling.’


Maia hung up the phone, and stared at Ally for a few seconds.


‘She sounds so sweet. And very young,’ she said eventually as they walked back to the table.


‘You know what? I think she sounded . . . normal.’


‘Are you saying we’re not?’ Maia smiled.


‘I think we’re a bunch of women with different personalities. Just like most sisters are. And anyway, what is “normal?”’


‘I am feeling guilty about her mum, though,’ Maia sighed. ‘It must be devastating to suddenly hear contact has been made about the possible birth family. Normally, it would have happened through official channels.’


‘Yes, you’re right. We should have thought,’ Ally agreed. ‘It was different for us; Pa was actively encouraging us to go and find our birth families.’


‘It just shows how amazing Ma has been through all this as we’ve found our relatives,’ said Maia. ‘She’s loved us all like a mother. I mean, I couldn’t love her more, she is my mother.’


‘And mine,’ Ally agreed. ‘And a fantastic granny to Bear.’


‘So . . . do you think Mary-Kate is our missing sister?’


‘Who knows? But if she is, how did Pa lose her?’


‘I have absolutely no idea, and I hate these conversations,’ Maia sighed. ‘Remember we all used to chat about why he’d adopted us when we were younger? And what his obsession with the Seven Sisters was?’


‘Of course I do.’


‘Back then, we could just have walked downstairs to Pa’s study and asked him outright, but none of us ever had the courage to do it. Now that he’s gone, that isn’t an option any longer. It makes me wish I had been brave enough, because now we’ll never know.’ Maia shook her head wearily.


‘Probably not, although I reckon Georg knows far more than he’ll ever say.’


‘I agree, but I guess he’s bound by whatever a lawyer’s oath is not to reveal his clients’ secrets.’


‘Well, Pa certainly seems to have had a lot of those,’ said Ally. ‘Like, did you know there’s a lift in this house?’


‘What?’ Maia gasped. ‘Where?’


‘There’s a panel that hides it off the corridor from the kitchen,’ said Ally, lowering her voice. ‘Tiggy found out about it when she was staying here after being so ill in the spring. Apparently, Ma said that Pa had it installed not long before he died – he’d been struggling with the stairs, but kept it a secret because he didn’t want any of us to worry.’


‘I see,’ said Maia slowly. ‘That doesn’t seem too suspicious, though, Ally.’


‘No, but what is suspicious is that the lift goes down to a hidden wine cellar that no one has ever told us about!’ said Ally.


‘I’m sure there’s an explanation for it—’


‘When Electra was here a few months ago, Ma took both of us down there. And Electra confirmed what Tiggy found when she sneaked down into the cellar when Ma and Claudia were asleep – there’s a door hidden behind one of the wine racks.’


‘So what’s behind it?’


‘I don’t know,’ Ally sighed. ‘I sneaked down there myself one night when I was up with Bear – the key to the lift is in the key box in the kitchen. I saw the door, but couldn’t budge the wine rack in front of it.’


‘Well, when we’re all here together we’ll go and take a look. Maybe Georg knows where and what it leads to. Anyway, getting back to the missing sister, now that we know where Mary-Kate’s mum is staying in Toronto, let’s call Electra again,’ said Maia, looking at her watch. ‘It’s about six a.m. in New York – that might be too early.’


This time, Electra didn’t answer her mobile, so Maia left a message for her to get back to them urgently. Ma arrived in from the garden with Bear, and Ally fed him as she sat in the kitchen waiting for Electra’s call.


‘You can go out or upstairs if you wish,’ Ma commented as Claudia began preparing lunch. ‘I won’t leave the phone unattended.’


‘If Electra doesn’t call back soon, I might,’ said Ally, as Maia excused herself to go to the bathroom. ‘Can I leave Bear here with you? I thought I might take the Laser out on the lake after lunch.’


‘Of course. You know it is my pleasure to look after him, Ally, and I’m sure an hour or two of sailing would do you the world of good. Maybe Maia could come with you,’ said Ma, watching the kitchen door for Maia’s return. ‘Between you and me, she does not look well. Maybe some fresh air would do her good.’


‘Maybe,’ agreed Ally. ‘I said she should go to the doctor if she doesn’t improve over the next couple of days.’


‘I hope she is better for when your sisters start to arrive. I want it to be a wonderful celebration.’


Ally caught the glimpse of anticipation in Ma’s eyes.


‘I hope so too, Ma. It must be very exciting for you, having all your girls back together again.’


‘Oh, it is, but with all their families coming too, I must work out how to accommodate them. Do you think the couples will mind sharing the smaller beds you have in the rooms on the attic floor, or should I put them on your father’s floor in the double rooms?’


Ally and Ma were discussing this when Maia walked back into the kitchen. ‘Any news?’ she asked.


‘Not yet, but I’m sure Electra will contact us as soon as she gets the message. Ma was wondering whether you wanted to come out and take a spin round the lake on the Laser with me?’


‘Not today, thank you. I’m not sure my stomach is quite settled enough yet,’ Maia sighed.


‘I have soup,’ said Claudia from her station at the range. ‘Will you eat inside or out?’


‘Outside, I think, don’t you, Maia?’ said Ally.


‘Err . . . I had a late breakfast so I’m not hungry. In fact, I think I’ll go upstairs for a lie-down while you eat. I’ll see you later.’


As Maia left the room, Ally and Ma shared a glance.
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Having put Bear back in his pram, tucked into a shady spot under the big oak tree where Ma had always stationed the babies for a nap, Ally was just sitting down to drink her soup when the telephone rang. She dashed inside to pick it up, but Claudia had reached it first.


‘Is it Electra?’


‘No, it is Star. Here.’ Claudia handed over the receiver and went back to her washing-up.


‘Hello, Star! How are you?’


‘Oh, I’m good, thank you, Ally.’


‘How is Mouse? And Rory?’


‘They’re fine as well. Sorry I haven’t replied to your email yet; we’ve been doing some stocktaking at the bookshop and it’s been chaos. Anyway, I thought I’d call you rather than write. It seems ages since we last spoke.’


‘That’s because it has been,’ Ally said with a smile, ‘but don’t worry. So you got my email?’


‘Yes, and CeCe has filled me in too – we’re meeting up in London in the next few days. Isn’t it exciting? I mean, that Georg might have found the missing sister just in time to go and lay the wreath. Is there any more news?’


Ally explained that they were hoping Electra would go to Toronto tomorrow.


‘Well, anything I can do from my end, let me know. Is it okay if I tell Orlando, Mouse’s brother, about all this? He’s actually a really good sleuth. It must be all those Conan Doyle stories he reads,’ Star chuckled.


‘I don’t see why not. Have you decided when you’re coming over to Atlantis yet?’


‘As I said, I’ll be meeting CeCe and Chrissie in London, but I won’t be able to fly to Geneva with them – Mouse is very busy with the restoration of High Weald, so I don’t want to leave Rory alone with him for too long. He’ll only get fed crisps and chocolate, knowing Mouse. Rory’s school term finishes the day before we leave for the cruise, so I’ll fly over with him then, and hopefully with Mouse too.’


‘Just let us know, because it’s not long now, is it?’


‘No, and I’m so excited to see everybody. Goodness, Ally, it feels like so much has happened to all of us in the past year. And of course, I can’t wait to meet Bear either. Keep in touch, won’t you? I’m going to have to go actually – I promised to cook forty-eight muffins and a lemon drizzle cake for Rory’s school fete tomorrow.’


‘No problem, Star. Speak soon, bye.’


Ally wandered back outside to finish her soup, and tried not to feel envy that all her sisters’ lives were so full and busy. And how all of them sounded happy.


I really do need that spin on the lake, she thought as she sat down.
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Out on the water, the warm June breeze whipped Ally’s curls around her face. She took in a lungful of pure air, then let it out slowly. It felt almost as if a physical weight had been lifted off her shoulders – or rather, out of her arms. She looked back at the silhouette of Atlantis, the pale pink turrets peeping out from behind the row of spruce trees that shielded it from prying eyes.


Veering sharply to avoid the path of other sailors, para-gliders and holidaymakers who were cluttering up the lake on this beautiful summer afternoon, Ally guided the Laser to an inlet and lay back, enjoying the sensation of the sun on her face. It reminded her of lying in Theo’s arms only a year ago, feeling as happy as she’d ever felt.


‘I miss you so much, my darling,’ she whispered to the heavens. ‘Please show me how to move on, because I don’t even know where my home is anymore.’
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‘Hello,’ Maia greeted her sister as Ally walked back into the kitchen a couple of hours later. ‘You’ve really caught the sun out there. Did you enjoy that?’


‘It was wonderful, thanks. I’d forgotten how much I love it,’ Ally smiled. ‘Is Bear okay?’


‘Ma’s just about to give him a bath, and he’s absolutely fine.’


‘Great, then I’ll head up and take a shower while I can. How are you feeling, Maia, any better?’


‘I’m fine, Ally. Oh, just before you go up, Electra called while you were out. I’ve given her the name of the hotel in Toronto and Mariam has called the private jet company, so it’s currently on hold for tomorrow.’


‘Okay, perfect. See you in a bit,’ Ally said as she left the kitchen.


After calling Merry’s hotel to confirm with the receptionist that she was still there, Maia dialled Mariam’s number.


‘Hello, is that Mariam? It’s Maia here.’


‘Hi, Maia, all okay?’


‘All is fine. I just wanted to tell you that Mary McDougal is definitely staying at the hotel for another couple of nights. She was out, but I’ve left a message saying Electra will be in touch to confirm a time to meet her tomorrow. I didn’t say her name in case it caused too much of a fuss.’


‘Thank you. That’ll be me making the call then. Your sister’s snowed under; everyone wants to speak to her right now,’ said Mariam, her soft tone like a spoonful of melting honey. ‘Miles and I think that it’s very important she paces herself, as it’s not so long since she came out of rehab.’


‘Absolutely. I said the same to her, though I’m sure Electra has other ideas.’


‘Actually, she’s being very calm about the situation. She doesn’t want to go back to that dark place either. We’ve decided to pick out a couple of trusted journalists and a major chat show she’ll be interviewed on, which will give the charity lots of coverage, but won’t be exploitative in any way.’


‘I’m so grateful she has you, Mariam. Thank you so much for being there for her.’


‘It really is no problem, Maia. Apart from the fact my job is to take care of her, I love her. She’s such a strong person and I think she’s going to do great things. Now, what is the full name of the lady we’re meeting?’


‘Mrs Mary McDougal, also known as “Merry”.’


‘Great,’ said Mariam. ‘I’ll call the hotel now, try to talk to Merry and arrange a time and a place, shall I? I would think meeting at the hotel would be the easiest as it’s close to Billy Bishop airport. Do you have her room number?’


‘I’m afraid I don’t. I’m not sure hotels give that kind of information these days. You’ll just have to ask to be put through to her room.’


‘Is it okay if I use my name instead of Electra’s? As you said, the last thing we want is anyone finding out she’s going to be there. She hasn’t been out in public since the concert. We’ve decided she’s going to have to be in disguise.’


‘What it must be like to be world famous!’ Maia chuckled.


‘What do I say if this Mary asks me what the meeting is about?’


‘Maybe just that you’re calling on behalf of the sister of CeCe D’Aplièse, who visited Mary-Kate at the vineyard, and you’d like to arrange a meeting with her at the hotel,’ Maia suggested.


‘Right, I’ll confirm the jet, then try to contact her and get back to you. Bye, Maia.’


‘Bye, Mariam.’


Claudia arrived in the kitchen, followed by Ma and a delicious-smelling Bear, fresh and clean in a babygro.


‘Ooh, pass him over for a cuddle with his auntie,’ said Maia.


‘Of course,’ Ma said as she handed a wriggling Bear to her. ‘Bath-times were always my favourite moment of the day when you were all small.’


‘It was probably because bedtime wasn’t that far off,’ said Maia. ‘Seriously, Ma, now I look back, I don’t know how you coped.’


‘Nor do I, but I did.’ Ma shrugged as she poured herself a glass of water. ‘And remember, as you grew up, you kept each other amused. Is Electra going to Toronto tomorrow?’


‘Yes, but I just don’t know what will happen,’ said Maia. ‘Apart from Georg being convinced that Mary McDougal is our missing sister, plus the emerald ring, we don’t have a lot to go on. And when I spoke to Mary-Kate, she was worried her adoptive mum was upset by our sudden appearance in her daughter’s life.’


‘I can imagine,’ Ma agreed. ‘But it is up to Mary-Kate to decide if she wishes to know more, and it sounds as if she does.’


‘Yes. Why do you think Georg is so certain it’s her?’


‘I know no more than you do, Maia. All I can say is that, throughout all the years I have known Georg, he has never said that he truly believed anyone else he has investigated could be the missing sister, so he must be convinced that this is her.’


‘Did Pa ever mention a missing sister to you over the years, Ma?’


‘Occasionally. There was always a sadness in his eyes when he spoke of the fact that he couldn’t find her.’


‘What about to you, Claudia?’ asked Maia.


‘Me?’ Claudia looked up from the vegetables she was chopping for supper. ‘Oh, I know nothing. I am not one for gossip,’ she added, and Ma and Maia shared a smile. Claudia loved nothing more than a big pile of trashy magazines, which they both knew she hid under her recipe folder if anyone walked into the kitchen.


Maia’s mobile rang again, and she handed Bear over to Ma as she answered it.


‘Hi, Maia, Mariam here again. Mary McDougal wasn’t in her room, but I left a message with the concierge to say we were coming tomorrow. I suggested one p.m., and that we meet in the lobby. I left my cell number too, so hopefully she’ll call me back. If she doesn’t, do we still go ahead?’ Mariam asked.


‘I . . . don’t know, to be honest. It’s a long way to go for nothing, and that might be the result.’


‘I’m up for it,’ said a voice in the background.


‘One moment, Maia, I’ll pass you over to Electra.’


‘Hi there,’ came Electra’s voice. ‘I think we should go, even if Mary doesn’t get back to us. I mean, CeCe and Chrissie turned up unannounced, and look at the heap of information they managed to get. Besides, we know she’s staying in the hotel, so if she’s out, we’ll just ask the concierge to tell us when she returns, and we’ll sit in the lobby until she does. Remind me what she looks like?’


OEBPS/images/img_0007.jpg





OEBPS/images/logo.jpg





OEBPS/images/img_0003.jpg
Nary-Foate

e &
Giblston Satley, Sew Lealund





OEBPS/images/title.jpg
TUCINDA RITEY





OEBPS/xhtml/toc.xhtml






		Cover



		Title page



		Contents



		Dedication page



		Epigraph page



		Cast of characters



		Mary-Kate

		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9







		Merry

		10







		Nuala

		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19







		Merry

		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26







		Merry

		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33







		Merry

		34







		Ambrose and James

		35



		36







		Merry

		37



		38



		39



		40







		Nuala

		41



		42



		43







		Merry

		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54







		Author’s Note



		Bibliography



		THE MURDERS AT FLEAT HOUSE



		ATLAS: THE STORY OF PA SALT



		Praise for the Seven Sisters series



		About the Author



		Also by Lucinda Riley



		Copyright page













Guide





    		Cover



    		Title page



    		Contents



    		1













		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		292



		293



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304



		305



		306



		307



		308



		309



		310



		311



		312



		313



		314



		315



		316



		317



		318



		319



		320



		321



		322



		323



		324



		325



		326



		327



		328



		329



		330



		331



		332



		333



		334



		335



		336



		337



		338



		339



		340



		341



		342



		343



		344



		345



		346



		347



		348



		349



		350



		351



		352



		353



		354



		355



		356



		357



		358



		359



		360



		361



		362



		363



		364



		365



		366



		367



		368



		369



		370



		371



		372



		373



		374



		375



		376



		377



		378



		379



		380



		381



		382



		383



		384



		385



		386



		387



		388



		389



		390



		391



		392



		393



		394



		395



		396



		397



		398



		399



		400



		401



		402



		403



		404



		405



		406



		407



		408



		409



		410



		411



		412



		413



		414



		415



		416



		417



		418



		419



		420



		421



		422



		423



		424



		425



		426



		427



		428



		429



		430



		431



		432



		433



		434



		435



		436



		437



		438



		439



		440



		441



		442



		443



		444



		445



		446



		447



		448



		449



		450



		451



		452



		453



		454



		455



		456



		457



		458



		459



		460



		461



		462



		463



		464



		465



		466



		467



		468



		469



		470



		471



		472



		473



		474



		475



		476



		477



		478



		479



		480



		481



		482



		483



		484



		485



		486



		487



		488



		489



		490



		491



		492



		493



		494



		495



		496



		497



		498



		499



		500



		501



		502



		503



		504



		505



		506



		507



		508



		509



		510



		511



		512



		513



		514



		515



		516



		517



		518



		519



		520



		521



		522



		523



		524



		525



		526



		527



		528



		529



		530



		531



		532



		533



		534



		535



		536



		537



		538



		539



		540



		541



		542



		543



		544



		545



		546



		547



		548



		549



		550



		551



		552



		553



		554



		555



		556



		557



		558



		559



		560



		561



		562



		563



		564



		565



		566



		567



		568



		569



		570



		571



		572



		573



		574



		575



		576



		577



		578



		579



		580



		581



		582



		583



		584



		585



		586



		587



		588



		589



		590



		591



		592



		593



		594



		595



		596



		597



		598



		599



		600



		601



		602



		603



		604



		605



		606



		607



		608



		609



		610



		611



		612



		613



		614



		615



		616



		617



		618



		619



		620



		621



		622



		623



		624



		625



		626



		627



		628



		629



		630



		631



		632



		633



		634



		635



		636



		637



		638



		639



		640



		641



		642



		643



		644



		645



		646



		647



		648



		649



		650



		651



		652



		653



		654



		655



		656



		657



		658



		659



		660



		661



		662



		663



		664



		665



		666



		667



		668



		669



		670



		671



		672



		673



		674



		675



		676



		677



		678



		679



		680



		681



		682



		683



		684



		685



		686



		687



		688



		689



		690



		691



		692



		693



		694



		695



		696



		697



		698



		699



		700



		701



		702



		703



		704



		705



		706



		707



		708



		709



		710



		711



		712



		713



		714



		715



		716



		717



		718



		719



		720



		721



		722



		723



		724



		725



		726



		727



		728



		729



		730



		731



		732



		733



		734



		735



		736



		737



		738



		739



		740



		741



		742



		743



		744



		745



		746



		747



		748



		749



		750



		751



		752



		753



		754



		755



		756



		757



		758



		759



		760



		761



		762



		763



		764



		765



		766



		767



		768



		769



		770



		771



		772



		773



		774



		775



		776



		777



		778



		779



		780



		781



		782



		783



		784



		785



		786



		787



		788



		789



		790



		791



		792



		793



		794



		795



		796



		797



		798



		799



		800



		801



		802



		803



		804











OEBPS/images/chap02.jpg
CHAtlantis
Lake Goneva, FSevitcortand
Tame 2008





OEBPS/images/chap01.jpg





OEBPS/images/chap06.jpg
ary-Foate
e &Wm Dalleyy





OEBPS/images/chap05.jpg





OEBPS/images/chap04.jpg





OEBPS/images/chap03.jpg
ELe
e Githston lley





OEBPS/images/chap07.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
They’ll search the world t@ find her





OEBPS/images/img_0001b.jpg





OEBPS/images/img_0002.jpg





OEBPS/images/img_0001.jpg
SBor @barry





